
 
 

v1 2015 

AGENDA 
 

Meeting Transport Committee 

Date Tuesday 10 October 2017 

Time 10.00 am 

Place Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 
Walk, London, SE1 2AA 

Copies of the reports and any attachments may be found at  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport  
 
Most meetings of the London Assembly and its Committees are webcast live at 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts where you can also view past 
meetings. 
 
Members of the Committee 
Keith Prince AM (Chairman) 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair) 
Shaun Bailey AM 
Tom Copley AM 
Florence Eshalomi AM 

David Kurten AM 
Joanne McCartney AM 
Steve O'Connell AM 
Caroline Russell AM 
Navin Shah AM 

 

A meeting of the Committee has been called by the Chairman of the Committee to deal with the 

business listed below.  

Ed Williams, Executive Director of Secretariat 
Monday 2 October 2017 

 
Further Information 
If you have questions, would like further information about the meeting or require special facilities 
please contact: Laura Pelling, Principal Committee Manager; Telephone: 020 7983 5526;  
Email: laura.pelling@london.gov.uk; Minicom: 020 7983 5526 
 
For media enquiries please contact Alison Bell; Telephone: 020 7983 4228;  
Email: alison.bell@london.gov.uk.  If you have any questions about individual items please contact the 
author whose details are at the end of the report.  
 
This meeting will be open to the public, except for where exempt information is being discussed as 
noted on the agenda.  A guide for the press and public on attending and reporting meetings of local 
government bodies, including the use of film, photography, social media and other means is available 
at www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf.  
 
There is access for disabled people, and induction loops are available.  There is limited underground 
parking for orange and blue badge holders, which will be allocated on a first-come first-served basis.  
Please contact Facilities Management on 020 7983 4750 in advance if you require a parking space or 
further information. 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts
mailto:alison.bell@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf


 

 
Certificate Number: FS 80233 

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of the agenda, minutes or reports 
in large print or Braille, audio, or in another language, then please call us on 
020 7983 4100 or email assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.   
 

 
 

mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 

3 
 

Agenda 
Transport Committee 
Tuesday 10 October 2017 
 
 

1 Apologies for Absence and Chairman's Announcements  
 
 To receive any apologies for absence and any announcements from the Chairman.  

 
 

2 Declarations of Interests (Pages 1 - 4) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to: 

 
(a) Note the offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, as disclosable pecuniary interests;  
 
(b)  Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests 

in specific items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the 
Member(s) regarding withdrawal following such declaration(s); and  

 
(c)  Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be 

relevant (including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received 
which are not at the time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register 
of gifts and hospitality, and noting also the advice from the GLA’s 
Monitoring Officer set out at Agenda Item 2) and to note any necessary 
action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s). 

 
 

3 Minutes (Pages 5 - 90) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to confirm the minutes of the meeting of the 

Transport Committee held on 12 September 2017 to be signed by the Chairman as a 
correct record.  
 

 The appendices to the minutes set out on pages 11 to 90 are attached for Members and 
officers only but are available from the following area of the GLA’s website: 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport 
 
 

4 Summary List of Actions (Pages 91 - 94) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact Laura Pelling, laura.pelling@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 5526 

  
The Committee is recommended to note the completed and outstanding actions 

arising from previous meetings of the Committee. 
 
 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport
mailto:laura.pelling@london.gov.uk


 

4 
 

5 Transport Committee Response to the Draft Mayor's Transport Strategy 
(Pages 95 - 106) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat  

Contact: Richard Berry, scrutiny@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4000 
 
The Committee is recommended to note its submission to the consultation on the 
draft Mayor’s Transport Strategy as agreed under delegated authority. 
 
 

6 Future Transport (Pages 107 - 108) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat  

Contact: Richard Berry, scrutiny@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4000 
 
The Committee is recommended to: 
 
a) Note the report, put questions to invited guests on Future Transport and 

note the discussion; and 
 

b) Agree to delegate authority to the Chairman, in consultation with the Deputy 
Chair and party Group Lead Members, to agree the final report of the 
investigation into Future Transport.  

 
 

7 London TravelWatch Business Plan and Budget Bid 2018/19  
(Pages 109 - 132) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact Ed Williams, ed.williams@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4399 
 
That the Committee considers London TravelWatch’s proposed budget and business 
plan for the next financial year and recommends a budget for London TravelWatch 
for 2018/19. 
 
 

8 London TravelWatch Performance Report (Pages 133 - 146) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact Ed Williams, ed.williams@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4399 
 
The Committee is recommended to note London TravelWatch’s performance over the 
past year and financial position as at 31 March 2017. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk
mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk
mailto:ed.williams@london.gov.uk
mailto:ed.williams@london.gov.uk


 

5 
 

9 Transport Committee Work Programme (Pages 147 - 152) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat  

Contact: Richard Berry, scrutiny@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4000 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

a) Agree its work programme for 2017/18 Assembly year, including the schedule 

of prospective topics for forthcoming meetings set out at paragraph 4.20; 

 

b) Agree to delegate authority to the Chairman, in consultation with the Deputy 

Chair and party Group Lead Members, to agree the scope and terms of 

reference for an investigation into London’s cycling infrastructure; 

 

c) Note the record of its site visit to Crossrail’s Ilford depot, as set out at 

Appendix 1; and 
 
d) Agree to use its next meeting to discuss motorcycle safety in London. 
 
 

10 Date of Next Meeting  
 
 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled for 8 November 2017 at 10.00am in the 

Chamber. 
 
 

11 Any Other Business the Chairman Considers Urgent  
 
 
 

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk  v1/2017 

 

Subject: Declarations of Interests 
 

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 10 October 2017 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report sets out details of offices held by Assembly Members for noting as disclosable pecuniary 

interests and requires additional relevant declarations relating to disclosable pecuniary interests, and 

gifts and hospitality to be made. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table below, be noted 

as disclosable pecuniary interests1; 

2.2 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests in specific 

items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the Member(s) regarding 

withdrawal following such declaration(s) be noted; and 

2.3 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be relevant 

(including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received which are not at the 

time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register of gifts and hospitality, and 

noting also the advice from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer set out at below) and any 

necessary action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s) be noted. 

 
3. Issues for Consideration  
 
3.1 Relevant offices held by Assembly Members are listed in the table overleaf: 

  

                                                 
1 The Monitoring Officer advises that: Paragraph 10 of the Code of Conduct will only preclude a Member from 
participating in any matter to be considered or being considered at, for example, a meeting of the Assembly, 
where the Member has a direct Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in that particular matter. The effect of this is 
that the ‘matter to be considered, or being considered’ must be about the Member’s interest. So, by way of 
example, if an Assembly Member is also a councillor of London Borough X, that Assembly Member will be 
precluded from participating in an Assembly meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about the 
Member’s role / employment as a councillor of London Borough X; the Member will not be precluded from 
participating in a meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about an activity or decision of London 
Borough X. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



        

 

 

Member Interest 

Tony Arbour AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Richmond 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM Committee of the Regions  

Gareth Bacon AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Bexley 

Shaun Bailey AM  

Sian Berry AM Member, LB Camden 

Andrew Boff AM Congress of Local and Regional Authorities (Council of 
Europe) 

Leonie Cooper AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Wandsworth 

Tom Copley AM  

Unmesh Desai AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Newham 

Tony Devenish AM Member, City of Westminster 

Andrew Dismore AM Member, LFEPA 

Len Duvall AM  

Florence Eshalomi AM Member, LB Lambeth 

Nicky Gavron AM  

Susan Hall AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Harrow 

David Kurten AM Member, LFEPA 

Joanne McCartney AM Deputy Mayor 

Steve O’Connell AM Member, LB Croydon  

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM  

Keith Prince AM Member, LB Redbridge 

Caroline Russell AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Islington 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM  

Navin Shah AM  

Fiona Twycross AM Chair, LFEPA; Chair of the London Local Resilience Forum 

Peter Whittle AM  
 

[Note: LB - London Borough; LFEPA - London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority.   
The appointments to LFEPA reflected above take effect as from 3 April 2017] 

 
3.2 Paragraph 10 of the GLA’s Code of Conduct, which reflects the relevant provisions of the Localism 

Act 2011, provides that:  
 

- where an Assembly Member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered 
or being considered or at  

 

(i) a meeting of the Assembly and any of its committees or sub-committees; or  
 

(ii) any formal meeting held by the Mayor in connection with the exercise of the Authority’s 
functions  

 

- they must disclose that interest to the meeting (or, if it is a sensitive interest, disclose the fact 
that they have a sensitive interest to the meeting); and  

 

- must not (i) participate, or participate any further, in any discussion of the matter at the 
meeting; or (ii) participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting 

 

UNLESS 
 

- they have obtained a dispensation from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer (in accordance with 
section 2 of the Procedure for registration and declarations of interests, gifts and hospitality – 
Appendix 5 to the Code).    

 

3.3 Failure to comply with the above requirements, without reasonable excuse, is a criminal offence; as is 

knowingly or recklessly providing information about your interests that is false or misleading. 

Page 2



        

 

3.4 In addition, the Monitoring Officer has advised Assembly Members to continue to apply the test that 

was previously applied to help determine whether a pecuniary / prejudicial interest was arising - 

namely, that Members rely on a reasonable estimation of whether a member of the public, with 

knowledge of the relevant facts, could, with justification, regard the matter as so significant that it 

would be likely to prejudice the Member’s judgement of the public interest.  

3.5 Members should then exercise their judgement as to whether or not, in view of their interests and 

the interests of others close to them, they should participate in any given discussions and/or 

decisions business of within and by the GLA. It remains the responsibility of individual Members to 

make further declarations about their actual or apparent interests at formal meetings noting also 

that a Member’s failure to disclose relevant interest(s) has become a potential criminal offence. 

3.6 Members are also required, where considering a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person 

from whom they have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25 within the 

previous three years or from the date of election to the London Assembly, whichever is the later, to 

disclose the existence and nature of that interest at any meeting of the Authority which they attend 

at which that business is considered.  

3.7 The obligation to declare any gift or hospitality at a meeting is discharged, subject to the proviso set 

out below, by registering gifts and hospitality received on the Authority’s on-line database. The on-

line database may be viewed here:  

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality.  

3.8 If any gift or hospitality received by a Member is not set out on the on-line database at the time of 

the meeting, and under consideration is a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person from 

whom a Member has received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25, Members 

are asked to disclose these at the meeting, either at the declarations of interest agenda item or when 

the interest becomes apparent.  

3.9 It is for Members to decide, in light of the particular circumstances, whether their receipt of a gift or 

hospitality, could, on a reasonable estimation of a member of the public with knowledge of the 

relevant facts, with justification, be regarded as so significant that it would be likely to prejudice the 

Member’s judgement of the public interest. Where receipt of a gift or hospitality could be so 

regarded, the Member must exercise their judgement as to whether or not, they should participate in 

any given discussions and/or decisions business of within and by the GLA. 

 

4. Legal Implications 
 

4.1 The legal implications are as set out in the body of this report. 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 

5.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: Laura Pelling, Principal Committee Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 526 

E-mail: laura.pelling@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 3

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



                                                                      

 

 
 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

MINUTES 
 

Meeting: Transport Committee 
Date: Tuesday 12 September 2017 
Time: 10.00 am 
Place: Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 

Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 
Copies of the minutes may be found at:  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport 

 

 
Present: 
 
Keith Prince AM (Chairman) 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair) 
Shaun Bailey AM 
Andrew Boff AM 
Tom Copley AM 
David Kurten AM 
Joanne McCartney AM 
Caroline Russell AM 
Navin Shah AM 
Dr Onkar Sahota AM 
 
 

1   Apologies for Absence and Chairman's Announcements (Item 1) 

 
1.1 Apologies for absence were received from Florence Eshalomi AM and Steve O’Connell AM, 

for whom Dr Onkar Sahota AM and Andrew Boff attended as substitute Members. 

 
 

2   Declarations of Interests (Item 2) 

 
2.1  The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 
 
2.2 Resolved: 
 
 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests.  

Page 5

Agenda Item 3

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport


Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Tuesday 12 September 2017 

 

 
 

3   Minutes (Item 3) 

 
3.1 Resolved: 
 

That the minutes of the meetings of the Transport Committee held on 12 July 2017 
and 18 July 2017 be signed by the Chairman as a correct record.  

 
 
4   Summary List of Actions (Item 4) 

 

4.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

4.2 Resolved: 

 
That the completed and outstanding actions arising from previous meetings of the 
Committee be noted. 

 
 
5   Future Transport (Item 5) 

 

5.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as background to 

putting questions on Future Transport to the following invited guests: 

 Rob Wallis, Transport Research Laboratory; 

 Dan Phillips, GATEway project, Royal College of Arts; 

 Professor Natasha Merat, University of Leeds; and 

 David Wong, Society of Motor Manufacturers and Traders. 

 

5.2 A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 1. 

 

5.3 During the course of the discussion, Dan Phillips, GATEway project, Royal College of Arts, 

provided the Committee with a handout on the work in progress as part of the GATEway 

project. The presentation is attached to at Appendix 2.  

 

5.4 At this point in the meeting, in accordance with Standing Order 2.2D, the Chairman took the 

rest of the items in a different order to that set out on the Agenda.  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 6



Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Tuesday 12 September 2017 

 

 
 

6   Reports on Bus Services (Item 6) 

 
6.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 
 
6.2 Resolved: 

(a) That the report, Driven to distraction: Making London’s buses safer, as agreed 

by the Chairman under delegated authority, in consultation with the Deputy 

Chair and party Group Lead Members be noted; and 

 

(b) That the report, London’s bus network, as agreed by the Chairman under 

delegated authority, in consultation with the Deputy Chair and party Group 

Lead Members be noted. 

 
7   Door-to-Door Services (Item 7) 

 
7.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 
 

7.2 Resolved: 

(a) That the response from Transport for London to the report, Door-to-door 

transport in London, Delivering a user-led service, be noted; and 

 

(b) That the impact review for the report be noted.  

 
 
8   Outer London Junctions (Item 8) 

 
8.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 
 
8.2 Resolved: 

(a) That the scope and terms of reference of the rapporteurship investigation 

into Outer London junctions being led by Caroline Russell AM, as set out in 

paragraph 4.2 of the report, be noted; and 

(b) That authority be delegated authority to the Chairman, in consultation with 

the Deputy Chair and party Group Lead Members, to agree the final report of 

the investigation. 

 
 
9   London TravelWatch Board Chair Recruitment (Item 9) 

 
9.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 
 

Page 7



Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Tuesday 12 September 2017 

 

 
 

9.2 Resolved: 

(a) That the appointment of Arthur Leathley as Chair of the Board of London 

TravelWatch for a term of four years commencing from 1 October 2017 be 

noted; and 

(b) That the Secretary of State for Transport has confirmed that he is satisfied 

with the proposed appointment of Arthur Leathley to serve as a member of 

Transport Focus, and accordingly that the appointment of Arthur Leathley as 

a member of Transport Focus be agreed. 

 
 
10   Transport Committee Work Programme (Item 10) 

 
10.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 
 
10.2 Resolved: 

(a) That the updated work programme for the 2017/18 Assembly year, including 

the schedule of prospective topics for forthcoming meetings as set out at 

paragraph 4.19 of the report be noted; 

 

(b) That the impact review for the report on traffic congestion, as set out at 

Appendix 1 be noted; 

 

(c) That the response to the recent Transport for London consultation on Oxford 

Street, which was agreed under delegated authority by the Chairman, in 

consultation with the Deputy Chair and party Group Lead Members, as set out 

in Appendix 2, be noted; 

 

(d) That a visit to a National Rail station to consider accessibility issues for 

disabled people be agreed and that authority be delegated to the Chairman, in 

consultation with the Deputy Chair and party Group Lead Members, to agree 

the details of the visit; and 

 

(e) That the record of the site visit to Liverpool Street Station, as set out in 

Appendix 3 be noted.  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Tuesday 12 September 2017 

 

 
 

11   Future Transport (Item 5) 

 

11.1 The Committee then put questions on Future Transport to the following invited guests: 

 Chris Lane, Transport for the West Midlands; 

 Brian Matthews, Milton Keynes Council;  

 Professor Maria Kamargianni, University College London (UCL); and 

 Jonn Elledge, CityMetric. 

 

11.2 A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 3. 

 

11.3  During the course of the discussion, the Professor Maria Kamargianni agreed to provide the 

Committee with the survey undertaken by UCL on mobility as a service for London. 

 

11.4 Resolved: 

 
(a) That the scope and terms of reference for the investigation into Future 

Transport, as agreed under delegated authority by the Chairman, in 
consultation with the Deputy Chair and party Group Lead Members, be noted; 

 
(b) That the report and discussion be noted; and 
 
(c) That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in consultation with the Deputy 

Chair and party Group Lead Members, to agree any related site visits.  

 
 
12   Date of Next Meeting (Item 11) 

 
12.1 The next meeting of the Committee was scheduled for Tuesday 10 October 2017 at 10.00am 

in the Chamber, City Hall. 

 
 
13   Any Other Business the Chairman Considers Urgent (Item 12) 

 
13.1 There was no other business. 

 
 
14   Close of Meeting  

 
14.1 The meeting ended at 12.37pm. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 9



Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Tuesday 12 September 2017 

 

 
 

 
 
    

Chairman   Date 
 
Contact Officer: Laura Pelling, Principal Committee Manager; Telephone: 020 7983 4426; 

Email: laura.pelling@london.gov.uk; Minicom: 020 7983 5526 
 

Page 10



 

 

Appendix 1 
 

Transport Committee – Tuesday, 12 September 2017 
 

Transcript of Agenda Item 5 – Future Transport 
 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  We have two sessions today.  For the first session, I would like to 

welcome Rob Wallis, Transport Research Laboratory (TRL); Dan Phillips from the Royal College of Art; 

Professor Natasha Merat, University of Leeds; and David Wong, Society of Motor Manufacturers and 

Traders.  Thank you very much for coming along. 

 

I shall kick off proceedings with the first question. How likely are we to see a large number of autonomous 

vehicles (AVs) on London roads in the next 10 to 20 years?  What are the biggest hurdles yet to be 

overcome?  

 

Rob Wallis (Chief Executive Officer, Transport Research Laboratory):  Thank you, Keith.  The real 

challenge here is that nobody really does know the answer to this.  It is purely a speculative opinion of 

various organisations and individuals. 

 

One of the interesting things for TRL is to look at what the automotive industry is doing, how quickly it is 

developing products and how much it is pushing hard to claim to bring those products to market. Ford, 

being an example, is talking about 2020 to 2021 or somewhere in that timeframe for having a 

commercially available platform and vehicle for automated driving capable of servicing the needs of a car-

sharing or mobility-as-a-service type of proposition.  We are really talking about probably three years from 

now being the fastest by which we might get some kind of commercial platform available.  The real uptake 

and usage and the real volume adoption of automation, though, we think, is going to probably take 

another 10 years or so, probably about 2030. 

 

In fact, there is some recent United States (US) research that has just been published by an organisation 

called RethinkX.  It is talking about the US market, which of course is very different to the United Kingdom 

(UK), but what it is talking about is that 95% of US passenger miles travelled will be served by on-demand 

electric automated vehicles. 

 

Generally, from a TRL perspective, what we believe is that this is an absolute revolution probably akin to 

the shift from the horse and cart through to the introduction of the motor vehicle in the 1910 - 1920 

period, particularly with Henry Ford’s Model T.  The absolute revolution we saw over a 10-year period in 

the early part of the last century is probably the kind of uptake and usage that we are going to see in this 

period from 2020 through to 2030. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Interesting.  Thank you.  Dan? 

 

Dan Phillips (GATEway Project, Royal College of Art):  Hi.  The uptake is going to be dependent on a 

number of factors: technological development, replacement of existing vehicles, and then political and 

community support, which you might call the market. 

 

Page 11



 

 

In terms of the timescales, we are already seeing very good AVs on the market today.  The technology is 

getting there.  From 2020 onwards, you will get level-3 vehicles, which are effectively vehicles that have 

basic autonomous features - like adaptive cruise control (ACC), lane changing, crash avoidance and self-

parking - in most vehicles between 2020 and 2025.  Between 2025 and 2030 perhaps, most vehicles will 

have advanced autonomous control.  Some will have no steering wheel at all and others will have a 

steering wheel but you will not have to use it necessarily.  Then, from 2030 onwards, more and more 

vehicles will become available without steering and it is more likely that those will be public vehicles or 

shared vehicles rather than private vehicles, although there will be an uptake in private vehicles without 

steering because of the change in the experience that they provide.  It is moving from, basically, using a 

car to get around to being in a moving room where you can do other things; you can relax or work or chat 

or sleep, potentially, which is one of the challenges.  That is a big risk.  That is my thoughts on it. 

 

In terms of a comparison, I would say that a better comparison would be the change from coal-fired 

heating in homes to centrally controlled gas-fired boilers.  Coal-fired heating creates a lot of pollution and 

has lots of problems associated with it.  When you put gas-fired heating into homes, they were all 

controlled automatically.  Comfort levels went up; risk went down.  There are problems associated with it 

as well because, obviously, people might abuse the system.  It is interesting to think of parallel 

transformations rather than just strictly automotive transport comparisons. 

 

Professor Natasha Merat (University of Leeds):  It is probably worth giving you a little bit of my 

background.  I work on the human factor side of automated vehicles and most of my research so far has 

been looking at what drivers do in our driving simulator when the vehicle is automated and how they deal 

with failures, limitations, etc.  Also, in the last couple of years I have been looking specifically at the 

interaction of people outside of the fully automated vehicle where there is no driver, like the GATEway 

low-speed, and a lot of my work is now in this kind of situation where we talk about terminology and when 

they will come. 

 

I just want to make that distinction about what we mean by ‘automated vehicles’.  As mentioned, there are 

a lot of systems already in our privately-owned vehicles, which some might say are what we call 

automation and that is increasing more and more.  The manufacturers are all bringing up some kind of 

time.  Volvo mentioned 2017, in about 2014, that they will be on the road and there are some cars in 

Gothenburg but there is a driver in there all the time.  Ford has mentioned robo-taxis in 2020.  There are 

lots of dates being announced and the technology, one would say, is theoretically there, but there are 

some barriers that will be a problem when it comes to people using them. 

 

The first thing is that a fully automated vehicle that can go from A to B without any intervention is 

probably around $150,000 to $200,000.  By 2020 that has to reduce quite massively if that is going to be 

implemented for privately owned vehicles.  On the other hand, we have the low-speed fully automated 

where it can go from A to B using maps and radar, lidar, etc.  They are running around already in 

demonstrations and so one could argue that they are already there available.  The Docklands Light Railway 

is an example.  The Heathrow Pods could be considered automated vehicles. 

 

For me, one of my challenges is trying to make sure: what do we mean by an ‘automated vehicle’?  Is 

everyone thinking of the Google Car or Uber or are they thinking about our own private cars?  I would say 

much later for a fully automated vehicle that can take me from A to B and I do not have to intervene.  I am 

thinking more like 2030 to 2040 because the issues are around acceptability, trust, uptake, affordability, 

Page 12



 

 

infrastructure availability, connectivity and so on.  I am a little bit more -- my students call me a party 

pooper when it comes to that. 

 

David Wong (Senior Technology and Innovation Manager, Society of Motor Manufacturers and 

Traders):  Natasha made a very important point that we should pick up on.  It is basically about defining 

the levels of automation because a lot of noise is out there in the public confusing and conflating vehicle 

automation and AVs.  When we talk about the uptake of AVs, we need to be very careful about what we 

mean by ‘autonomous vehicles’ because, for the automotive industry, we conceive of automation in terms 

of the Society of Automotive Engineers (SAE) defined levels of automation.  That is from level 1 all the 

way through to level 5. 

 

Levels 1 and 2 are basically what we already have in many vehicles at the moment in the market that are 

already deployed and uptake is very encouraging.  I will give you an example of level 1 and level 2.  These 

are, for example, autonomous emergency braking; vehicles that can brake themselves at low speed, 

particularly in urban environments.  Based on 2015 registration data, we registered about 2.6 million 

vehicles in 2015 here in the UK and about two in five, nearly 40%, of all those vehicles registered in 2015 

had autonomous emergency braking either as a standard or optional fitment.  Of those 2.6 million vehicles 

registered, nearly a third of them have ACC.  These are automated technologies but they are level 1 and 

level 2 and they are already available in the market. 

 

What about level 3, then?  Level 3 we would not consider autonomous given the definition of the SAE, but 

these are vehicles with the sort of technology where people can go hands-off for a limited period of time.  

Level 3 is basically where the computer or the system performs the dynamic driving task and the driver 

does not need to monitor the environment but, crucially, he or she must be prepared to take back control 

should the use case come to an end or should the computer or the system tell the driver to take back 

control.  It is not deployed yet but an example is that Audi a couple of months ago launched its flagship 

A8 model in Barcelona with the world’s first level-3 technology, which they called the traffic jam pilot 

(TJP).  It will be available in the market next year. 

 

Then we talk about level 4 and level 5, which by industry parlance would be considered autonomous 

because, technically speaking, the driver is out of the loop and that means there is no expectation for the 

driver to take back control of the vehicle within the define use case.  For example, level 4, the Volvo trials 

in Gothenburg: they were intending to do the same in London, as they announced last year, but we are 

still waiting for them to trial these in London.  Essentially, that is a level 4 technology.  It may, in the first 

instance, be done on a use case basis, junction to junction, in a motorway and that is the use case and, 

within that use case, there is no expectation for the driver to take back control.  Once the use case is done, 

it is over and you hit the final junction, the car will prompt you to take back control.  That is level 4 

technology.  There will still be a steering wheel.  When will that be deployed?  That is a question that you 

are asking in terms of uptake of AVs.  Volvo has announced 2021.  Ford has announced its robo-taxis, as 

alluded to by my colleagues, about 2020 or 2021.  BMW has announced level 3/level 4 about 2021 as 

well.  There will be some deployment at the level 4 stage of technology by 2021. 

 

Then we come to level 5 where, going by industry definition, there will not be a steering wheel and where 

essentially there will be no drivers and you will just be a passenger.  It is capable of manoeuvring or 

navigating end-to-end journeys.  That is probably like some of the pods that you will see running around 

in the geofenced area within a city, for example, without a driver, without a steering wheel.  We are 

Page 13



 

 

thinking that probably between 2025 to 2030 we may see the first level 5 vehicles but only in very small 

numbers.  Real uptake would probably be 2035 and beyond, but it all depends on quite a number of 

circumstances; regulation, for example, consumer confidence and also other circumstances which may 

encourage the early adoption of these vehicles. 

 

It is not as simple as saying, “Autonomous vehicle uptake would be year X or year Y”.  It is really about 

defined levels of automation and when they will come onstream. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  That is very helpful.  What different types of AV do you think will enter 

the commercial market?  David, do you want to kick off?  Mainly what you have been talking about is 

what would replace a cab or what would replace your own car, but what about commercial vehicles?  Have 

you any thoughts on that? 

 

David Wong (Senior Technology and Innovation Manager, Society of Motor Manufacturers and 

Traders):  One of the interesting ones would be, first and foremost, a trial of connected technology with 

some automation in the form of truck platooning, which my colleague Rob [Wallis]’s organisation TRL will 

be conducting very soon.  That is a commercial vehicle but that is at the trial stage.  It is not yet going to 

be deployed commercially in the market. 

 

What is quite interesting and something to watch out for is demand-responsive taxis or demand-

responsive minibuses, essentially, which, to my understanding, will be trialled soon in London.  There is a 

Government-funded project that is very close to testing these by next year or the year after in London.  

That would probably be an interesting development in terms of eventually deploying commercial vehicles 

in the form of demand-responsive transport for the public. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Rob, do you want to come in at this point and tell us about your trial? 

 

Rob Wallis (Chief Executive Officer, Transport Research Laboratory):  Yes.  You may have seen 

some of the announcements over the last few weeks.  Highways England and the Department for 

Transport (DfT) have given the go-ahead for platooning trials, which TRL is leading but we have a 

consortium of other organisations working with us.  This is essentially using two or three trucks in an 

electronically connected form where, by reducing the distance between the trucks and getting them to 

close up in in a train or platoon, you get all sorts of benefits in terms of the two drivers behind and the 

amount of time that they can relax while that platooning is going on.  Also, the aerodynamics generate 

quite a reduction in fuel usage and emissions as well. 

 

Having said that, the technology is not new.  Some of this platooning has been carried out in the US and it 

has also been carried out successfully across various parts of continental Europe.  What is different and 

what we are trying to do in the UK is to do this in a real-world testing environment.  Most of the other 

research that is been going on in other continents has been in controlled environments, not in real-life 

traffic environments, but now the technology is relatively mature and so there is a level of confidence to 

immerse this in amongst normal traffic and other drivers. 

 

The other aspect that is different about the UK trials is the layout of the motorways in the UK is different.  

On highways in the US and a lot of the main highways across Europe, as an example, the exit and entry 

roads onto the motorways are very different and there are different distances and so on so.  Therefore, 

Page 14



 

 

even if it works in Germany or it works in France, that does not necessarily mean it works or is attractive 

commercially in the UK.  We are trying to look also at the commercial viability as well as, crucially, the 

safety aspect of whether platooning is good for Britain’s roads. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Thank you. 

 

David Wong (Senior Technology and Innovation Manager, Society of Motor Manufacturers and 

Traders):  With your indulgence, if I may add very quickly, what we are quite likely to see the context of 

London - because I believe this inquiry is about London - will be the last-mile transport.  I mentioned 

demand-responsive transport, but particularly relevant for last-mile journeys in the context of London, for 

example, in a tightly geofenced defined area in certain parts of London.  There is a lot of promise for that 

technology and we may see a deployment of that technology quite soon depending on how the trials go.  

For example, the GATEway trial with those pods has a very promising development there and there are 

many other pods that have been trialled in other parts of the country that could be applied to London. 

 

Dan Phillips (GATEway Project, Royal College of Art):  I would like to bring this to life a bit.  I have 

shared a few pictures with you.  If you go to page 7 just to start with, we see AVs coming into life to 

support both people movement and goods movement.  We think that there will be a combination of 

shared and public vehicles with some private vehicles.  They will go from everything from assisting disabled 

people to providing this last-mile inclusive community transportation.  They could support people from 

one person moving around to 20 people moving around or more. 

 

We have shown that you can use autonomy to help people who are disabled just get around the streets.  If 

they are blind or they have a wheelchair but they have a child they would like to take with them, a small 

autonomous buggy can provide guidance for people.  We also think that these autonomous systems and 

the advent of assisted electric motors is going to provide a bridge between cycling and larger forms of 

electric vehicle.  There is a big opportunity for the city to look at electric bikes but also more advanced 

electric assisted vehicles that could support older people or disabled people to get around more easily. 

 

The range of vehicles that you provide in a city really transforms the congestion in the city.  So many 

people move around in a vehicle designed for their general needs rather than their specific needs.  If cities 

and manufacturers start to design smart AVs that might take one or two people, that would reduce the 

road space required and increase the number of vehicles that could platoon together and move closely 

around.  That is an interesting area to look at. 

 

On larger vehicles, we have spoken to 100 people in workshops and we had about 30,000 visitors to an 

exhibition at the London Transport Museum.  We spent a lot of time with them to try to understand their 

hopes and fears.  Over 80% of people saw AVs as vehicles that would be shared, but there was a big group 

of people who thought that they would have a privately-owned vehicle.  That was families, which have 

such a diverse set of requirements that, even in a well-connected city like London, we already see that a 

lot of families want to have a private car.  Whilst we could see people moving away from using their private 

cars, some groups will still buy them.  That is an interesting area about the family car.  What is that going 

to look like? 

 

Then on page 13 we look at these smaller community buses.  We called it a flexi-bus.  How might a bus 

deal with these last-mile journeys?  Particularly for older people, people carrying shopping in bad weather, 

Page 15



 

 

these smaller vehicles could have some of this intelligent routing built into them so that they can move 

around a local community and fill in these transport deserts that you have mentioned in your report. 

 

Then, moving on, we might see school buses or larger vehicles that provide transport.  That is page 14.  

Then, outside of moving people around, we can see services supporting community needs; for example, 

AVs that support health and wellbeing in the community or even AVs that collect and recycling material.  

We used to call it waste and rubbish, but perhaps these vehicles would be part of a circular economy where 

material is collected and reused and sorted. 

 

We are trying to bring this to life rather than talk about it in an abstract way and hopefully these diagrams 

and early sketches will help to give you some flavour of the range that might appear in the future.  This is 

work in progress and so it is not finished work. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  What do you think are the different types of AV in the commercial 

market, and in commercial vehicles? 

 

Professor Natasha Merat (University of Leeds):  Yes, for me, if I put a bit of a spin on it, in this 

context, it is very much about whether we see these vehicles coming, everyone being able to buy for their 

needs, different commercial vehicles coming in and anyone can do what they want kind of thing, or do we 

look at it from a public point of view?  While it is nice to see that there is a large range of possibilities, at 

the end of the day, especially when there is a mixture of still manual for a long time, 10 or 15 years, and 

then semi-automated to fully automated, what does that mean in terms of our mobility within a city like 

London, which is already quite congested?  If I am thinking about it, I am thinking more about what 

proportion of these vehicles should be public or public/private and what proportion of these vehicles 

should be owned by us. 

 

You were saying earlier about the family car.  The family car already cannot come into the city and so we 

have to have different proportions of vehicles for different roads.  Within the city, I would say that it has to 

be publicly owned or public-private partnerships and, for getting to the city, then there are other versions 

where you might have privately owned vehicles which may or may not be automated. 

 

Do not forget the other modes.  That is the other thing, but we will come to that a bit later. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Thank you. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  You were talking about the breakdown between public and private.  Surely that is 

going to be determined by the market because the only reason, for example, as you said, family vehicles 

do not come into the centre of town is because it is congested and it is expensive. 

 

Professor Natasha Merat (University of Leeds):  It is going to be partly determined by the market 

and the user.  You know better than I do probably that Londoners do not own cars as much as the rest of 

the country and that ownership and licensing for Londoners in particular is a lot lower than the rest of the 

country, probably for good reasons.  You have a very good public transport system in comparison.  It is too 

expensive to park, it is too expensive to run it, etc.   

 

Page 16



 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  These are all decisions made by individuals because of the environment around 

them -- 

 

Professor Natasha Merat (University of Leeds):  Absolutely. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  -- but it seemed to me that you were suggesting that there might be some centrally 

directed diktat that a certain proportion of traffic on the road will be public and a certain proportion will be 

private rather than leaving it to the market to decide. 

 

Professor Natasha Merat (University of Leeds):  Yes, we will have to go with, as you say, the 

consumers’ needs and desires and things like sharing will definitely be part of it.  What I am hoping is that 

it is very much the European model rather than the US model where the US model is to do what you want 

to do and it is a free country kind of thing.  Whereas we have a bit more balance, I hope, and we will have 

a bit more control as to what proportion of the cars that are being used are going to be privately owned. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  Yes, some would have, but not everyone. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  I am just wondering if any of you have a vision for reducing the overall number of 

vehicles on our streets.  When we start talking about platooning and all these different kinds of AVs that 

might be on our streets, we currently have in London a massive problem of congestion.  We have 

desperate problems of physical inactivity, which are causing big health issues across our city.  Any borough 

is worried about their year 6 pupils, who are all more obese than Year 6 pupils used to be in previous 

generations. 

 

Do you see there are some opportunities, unlike Andrew [Boff AM]’s market-driven vision, to use AVs for 

good and to deliver benefits to Londoners in terms of our health and making our streets into less 

congested, less polluted and more pleasant places? 

 

Dan Phillips (GATEway Project, Royal College of Art):  The research that we have done shows that 

there is a great appetite for AVs and that a lot of people in London do not like driving.  They do not find it 

an enjoyable experience or a very good use of their time.  There is a demand already to have a better 

quality of mobility in the city.  We should not think of autonomy as separate from all the other issues that 

a city faces around health and wellbeing, around access, around inclusivity.  It is important that autonomy 

is not just the solution - when I have a hammer, everything looks like a nail - but I would say that 

autonomy, because of its nature and its characteristics, increases the likelihood of sharing.  It increases the 

likelihood of reduced private ownership, particularly in a dense urban environment that has a high-quality 

public infrastructure.  It is something that is really worth developing, understanding, testing, trialling and 

bringing to life for people, and to bring people along with it so that it is not seen as something that is 

imposed upon them but something that they are -- 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  We are going to pick up issues around reducing traffic congestion and so 

on a bit later. 

 

Dan Phillips (GATEway Project, Royal College of Art):  Specifically, just the fact that AVs will come 

to you and that they do not have to park outside your home means that you are more likely to use a 

shared vehicle. 

Page 17



 

 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  I want to look at the issue of ethics and safety around all 

of this.  I am looking at level 5 vehicles, if I understand, fully automated, which is what most of us have in 

our minds.  Perhaps I could start with Professor Merat.  What are the main ethical and safety concerns 

surrounding widespread adoption of AVs at level 5? 

 

Professor Natasha Merat (University of Leeds):  I would say that actually level 5 is probably the 

safest and most ethical because, by then, it has developed in a way that the system is theoretically fool-

proof.  The manufacturers, certainly Volvo, when it is coming to level 4, even, is suggesting that it is 

responsible for the vehicle being able to get from A to B within the designated areas. 

 

In terms of safety, the issues are probably more around the fact that we as the controllers on levels 2, 3 

and possibly 4 are not necessarily sure what it can and cannot do at the moment and for a while 

terminology can be quite confusing.  The word ‘autopilot’ makes you think that it can drive itself.  Even if 

you do not think it can drive itself and you are supposed to monitor it some of the time, it is difficult to 

know what that ‘some of the time’ means for the average driver.  Even if you know that you have to look 

at it every minute or every 30 seconds or whatever, the likelihood of you being able to do that for a long 

time is very hard.  We as human beings are not very good at being operators and we are very easily 

distracted, even with the manual control vehicles.  From a driver’s point of view, these are the occasions 

where safety is an issue, in my opinion. 

 

On ethics, I try not to get involved in that because there are always these questions about who should it 

crash into, etc, and there is a lot of debate from the lawyers and ethics people on that side.  I do not know 

what the answer is for that but I do know that on level 5, for example, these are very safe vehicles.  They 

will not crash into you.  They will stop and are much better than a manually controlled vehicle.  However, 

then it leads to the issue of, on the one hand, how will that affect flow?  Actually, a colleague of mine was 

saying, “This will be really nice because it means that as pedestrians and cyclists we can regain the 

streets”.  I have noticed more and more now, I have started walking and I have noticed how, when we are 

in our metal boxes, we feel like we own the road.  Perhaps the AVs will be nicer than driven vehicles. 

 

Therefore, in terms of safety, I would say that there is lots of work still to be done and the most important 

thing is making sure that the driver and the controller of the vehicle is aware of its capabilities, where it 

can and cannot work, what it does and it does not do.  For example, if a system is in place that lets the 

vehicle be safer, then the driver needs to let it do its job, which again is a difficult one.  ACC is a good 

example where it is available because it is a good thing and it helps with our safety, but a lot of drivers do 

not like it and they do not use it.  They are just some of the challenges that there are. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Maybe, Dan, I could bring you in about these ethical and 

safety concerns?  I know you have set out some in this paper that you have given us, but also what 

regulation do you think will be needed to ensure AVs are used safely?  Would the operator/driver need 

some sort of licence?  What about insurance? 

 

Dan Phillips (GATEway Project, Royal College of Art):  There was a question further along the line 

within your general questions, but in terms of ethics and safety, technically - and I am not a technical 

expert in the control systems - what we are interested in is what people are saying they are concerned 

about and how designers can engage in those concerns and how citizens can engage in those concerns.  

Page 18



 

 

We have things like the fact that if we move to these driverless vehicles and they are all-electric, then, for 

a lot of people, whether they are old or disabled, they feel quite insecure in those environments because it 

is a change; just like the change from Exhibition Road moving from pavements to a single surface has been 

a concern for people with disabilities.  AVs have to take those environments into account. 

 

One of the biggest ethical challenges is the relationship between the computer program which might well 

be programmed to maximise profit and to maximise profit you want to increase the number of people you 

pick up, maybe the speed at which you travel, the areas you go to and the areas you avoid.  There are 

interesting underlying ethical issues that are worth examining. 

 

Then there is the whole safety thing.  As a cyclist, I make eye contact with other drivers constantly and this 

lack of eye contact with a driverless vehicle might well be a problem.  Is there a design solution that can 

help to overcome that problem? 

 

Then there is this general ethical issue around accidents.  Personally, I am a little like you.  I feel like it is 

overblown because there is already evidence that AVs crash less than driven vehicles because, 

unfortunately, we human beings get tired.  We are in a rush.  We get angry.  Some of us drink while we 

drive.  Some of us are on our mobile phones while we drive.  There are all sorts of edge conditions for 

human beings that just do not happen if you have an AV. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Yes, but there still could be a collision and, therefore, 

where would the blame lie and how is that going to be worked out? 

 

Dan Phillips (GATEway Project, Royal College of Art):  As far as I understand, our partner in the 

GATEway project is the Royal Sun Alliance (RSA) and they are developing the insurance model for AVs.  It 

is going to be probably similar to the airline industry and effectively you would have no-blame insurance 

because you have to see it as a systemic challenge rather than the individual driver’s fault because there is 

not a driver; there is a system.  However, in order to overcome that, we have to prove that these vehicles 

are capable of driving well.  What is the digital driving test for an AV?  What is the physical driving test for 

an AV?  Personally, I would love it if a driving test instructor could get into an AV and carry out a driving 

test with the vehicle. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Rob, do you want to come in on my main question and 

also this issue about what regulation might be needed and so on? 

 

Rob Wallis (Chief Executive Officer, Transport Research Laboratory):  It is very interesting.  I am 

not sure if the Committee is aware but it is 20 years today since the introduction in the UK and across 

Europe of the New Car Assessment Programme (NCAP) crash worthiness programme.  TRL together with 

the DfT led the whole creation of that safety standard for the construction of vehicles.  It is really 

interesting that over time that has just become adopted as custom and practice and nobody talks about 

crashworthiness because the automotive industry has responded extremely positively and made our 

vehicles very safe. 

 

However, that is almost, when drivers make mistakes and cars crash, let us make sure the crash is quite 

safe.  Going forward, with an autonomy, cars will not crash quite as often, we hope.  On the one hand, the 

introduction of various levels of autonomy can create uncertainty and perceived risk in people and they do 

Page 19



 

 

not really know how safe these things are, but there is an awful lot of emerging evidence now that says 

exactly the opposite.  Of the deaths and serious injuries on the road anywhere in the world, 95% 

predominantly have some element of human interaction that has made a contribution to that accident.  If 

you are able to take the driver out of the equation, some of the time or all of the time there should be 

demonstrable reduction in deaths and serious injuries.  The societal benefit of that alone says that it is 

worth pushing really hard to see if we can make it work. 

 

From a regulatory point of view, though, there are real barriers to overcome.  We talked earlier on about 

the technology emerging at quite a fast pace and slightly different opinions perhaps on the timing of the 

real uptake in usage, but the uptake in usage is probably not held back by the development and 

innovation around technology but it is more these barriers around how we bring these new innovative 

technologies into society.  These are things like the driver rules and the driver licensing.  If drivers are not 

going to drive vehicles, do they need a driving licence?  If they are going to drive a semi-automated 

vehicle, is that a different type of driving test where they have to learn and understand all of these 

available technologies that they have in the vehicles that they might buy? 

 

Criminal law and the procedures around criminal law: when we have situations where drivers are driving 

vehicles improperly or drinking and driving and so on, to what extent is someone in a vehicle that is being 

driven autonomously who is over the legal limit for alcohol breaking the law?  If they perhaps drove for 

some of the journey and autonomously for other parts of the journey, can you prove that they were 

actually ever in control of the vehicle at a point in time and therefore breaking the law?  Civil liberties 

around personal injury and the extent to which personal injury insurance and liabilities needs to be 

considered. 

 

We talked already about the insurance industry.  The insurance industry really does see a massive 

disruption from this.  Broadly speaking, we have a UK insurance industry that is predicated on insuring 

drivers and we all have our various risk profiles and the amount of no-claims bonus and so on.  Going 

forward, the driver may not be the insured entity; it may be more the vehicle.  Then, if it is insuring the 

vehicle, is it the vehicle manufacturer, is it the vehicle owner, is it the vehicle operator or is it, as Dan 

[Phillips] described, some kind of systematic approach to the whole system of how that vehicle is used? 

 

Data privacy from a regulation point of view comes in here as well.  These vehicles will have, by their very 

nature, an enormous amount more data and an enormous amount more insight about how the vehicle has 

been used, who is in the vehicle, where the vehicle has been going and so on.  There is a big privacy 

challenge but also a cybersecurity challenge from a hacking perspective. 

 

One of the most challenging scenarios around ethics and safety -- all of those are just changes to the law.  

The right people need to get around the table and work through those over time and remove those 

barriers so that the industry can continue to innovate and bring the safety benefits to the marketplace.  

From a TRL perspective, the biggest challenge we see is in the ethical decisions that need to be made 

around when a vehicle should hit the tree and hurt the occupants rather than hit the pedestrian and save 

the life of the occupants or other such scenarios. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Yes, and who programs that. 

 

Page 20



 

 

Rob Wallis (Chief Executive Officer, Transport Research Laboratory):  As human beings, we always 

have a reasonably strong self-preservation instinct and trying to emulate how humans would behave in an 

automated scenario might not be the right answer.  I do not think TRL particularly has an opinion on what 

the right answer is, but we know it is a question that needs to really be addressed relatively quickly over 

the next five to 10 years. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  That is really helpful.  Thank you.  David [Wong], did you 

have anything to add on this point at all? 

 

David Wong (Senior Technology and Innovation Manager, Society of Motor Manufacturers and 

Traders):  There are five specific areas of regulation that will determine whether the UK becomes one of 

the leading markets for AVs, a flourishing market, a market where everything works well, if we get the 

regulations and policy and standards correct.  There are five particular areas. 

 

The first one is our Road Traffic Act 1988 (RTA).  Strictly speaking, AVs at level 4 and level 5 could not be 

deployed even if the technology were available today because the RTA does not allow it.  The RTA is 

based on, or underpinned by, the Highway Code and the [Road Vehicles] Construction and Use 

Regulations.  For example, Highway Code rule 150 and 160 and Construction and Use Regulation rule 104 

say that, basically, the driver has to be in control of the vehicle with a good view of the road ahead, paying 

attention to driving with hands on the wheel.  That is incompatible with level 4.  Therefore, in the first 

place, we have to look at what sort of regulation is out there that we need to tweak.  The RTA, the 

Highway Code and the Construction and Use Regulations will be the first ones that ought to be tackled to 

enable the deployment of level 4 and level 5. 

 

Secondly, running in parallel with our Road Traffic Act is what is happening internationally because a lot of 

these regulations related to safety of AVs are not done in Brussels but are done in Geneva at the United 

Nations Economic Commission for Europe (UNECE); specifically, ECE Regulation 79, for example: the 

automatically commanded steering function.  As things stand, even if you have such technology available, 

your vehicle cannot manoeuvre laterally - overtake - beyond 10 kilometres an hour.  Of course, if you have 

an AV, you want it to do just that, to safely overtake, and, for that to be possible, it needs to be more than 

10 kilometres an hour.  As things stand, we cannot do that because of ECE Regulation 79.  That is in the 

process of being tweaked.  That is the second thing. 

 

The third thing is insurance, like my colleagues alluded to.  This is very critical because the Automated and 

Electric Vehicles (AEV) Bill, which will be shortly introduced in Parliament, probably has a new lease of life 

after the Vehicle Technology and Aviation (VTA) Bill was put to bed because of the elections.  The AEV 

Bill, from our understanding, will have the same insurance framework proposal as the VTA Bill and it is the 

desire of the Government to create a single insure model for level 4 and eventually level 5 vehicles that are 

owned.  These are not public pods that you can hire but these are owned vehicles, assuming one owns 

these vehicles because, in the UK, we insure the driver; we do not insure the vehicle.  The policy intends to 

create a single insurer model whereby the driver and the occupants and third parties are all covered.  In the 

event that there is an accident involving an AV, the innocent victims will get a pay-out very quickly as per 

usual based on some basic investigation by the insurers and the insurers will bicker with, possibly, the 

responsible parties - it could be the vehicle manufacturer; it could be infrastructure maintenance 

authorities - behind the scenes when the consumer is out of the way.  That is basically to imbue 

Page 21



 

 

confidence in the market for consumers, not very different from what we have today.  That is the third 

piece of regulation. 

 

The fourth one is type approval and certification.  If we think about all these things, whether they are pods 

running on pavements, pods running on roads or level 4 vehicles running on public roads, they have to be 

type approved and certified before they can be road-legal.  At the moment, that is a big area and there are 

no answers yet because the international community, particularly at the UNECE in Geneva, are thrashing 

out what it means to certify software and what it means to certify systems.  No longer are we certifying 

just a vehicle and its road worthiness.  That is the fourth piece. 

 

The last one is not very different from what my colleagues have alluded to as well: driver licensing, 

repurposing future driving tests and what it means to have a driver’s licence in the future.  That is the five 

particular areas of regulation. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Very helpful.  Thank you. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Just on one of the last points about insurance and the single insurer model, 

presumably, if a privately-owned AV is not serviced regularly or is not fixed when required, then that does 

put the onus back on the owner or the driver? 

 

David Wong (Senior Technology and Innovation Manager, Society of Motor Manufacturers and 

Traders):  Correct. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Is it the case that AVs at levels 4 and 5 will not move if there are repairs?  I am 

assuming that once it gets to that stage, they self-diagnose anyway.  I am just wondering how that would 

work. 

 

David Wong (Senior Technology and Innovation Manager, Society of Motor Manufacturers and 

Traders):  In the Bill, we are basically taking a cue from the VTA Bill previously.  There is a section on 

contributory negligence.  However, if the owner contributed to the malfunctioning of the system, then of 

course they will invalidate the insurance policy. 

 

Of course, you mentioned about whether the vehicle should function if indeed it has not been properly 

maintained.  If it is a safety critical fault, it is conceivable that there will be warnings built in to warn the 

owner or the driver that they must perform the necessary maintenance or bring it to a workshop or have a 

repairer come and repair it before it can be driven if it is safety critical and if it is really a matter of life and 

death.  However, if it is not really safety critical - for example, the brake fluid is running low - it is not 

inconceivable that you can still drive the vehicle but you are given the advice to bring it into a workshop as 

quickly as possible.  There is a distinction between what is safety critical and what is not safety critical. 

 

Similarly, in the Bill, there will be mentioned about software updates.  Bearing in mind that these vehicles 

are essentially replete with software and complex computer systems, it is important for the user to 

regularly update the software when prompted to do so, particularly if these are safety critical patches to be 

applied to the software. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Thank you.   

Page 22



 

 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Good morning.  I just want to talk about whether AVs will contribute to a reduction in 

traffic because there is some tension around, if we can drive more easily because we are not actually doing 

the driving, whether we will do more driving.  London is a very congested place.  Our population is 

8.6 million and we are set to go to 10 million.  Where do you see AVs contributing to a reduction in traffic, 

if possible?  Sorry, start with the GATEway project. 

 

Dan Phillips (GATEway Project, Royal College of Art):  I have written a hierarchy of possible ways of 

managing congestion associated with AVs and I would say that it links into London’s Transport Strategy. 

 

You have to start by making the streets friendlier so that people can walk and cycle in them.  If they are 

not friendly, they are going to choose other ways of getting around.  Secondly, we should be extending 

cycling schemes to support assisted mobility so that people who currently feel that it is hard work can get 

that support to move into more physical activity as they get around. 

 

AVs should be integrated into the public transport network because, if you do not integrate them into the 

public transport network, then people will find that the benefits they are getting in their private vehicles 

are not being provided in public transport. 

 

Next, we have to develop a range of different sized AVs so that it is not just everybody getting into a four-

seater AV taxi when actually they do not need a four-seater; they just need a little get-around.  If you go 

to India or you go around the world, you see little tuk-tuks or little two-seater vehicles.  Imagine some 

smaller vehicles like that acting as taxis rather than our large black cabs.  Integrate sharing into AV 

technology from the start.  If you imagine that every vehicle, whether it is publicly owned or privately 

owned, can be shared easily, then that is going to reduce the number of vehicles that are parked on our 

streets. 

 

Then consider how we might integrate goods movement and people movement into the same vehicles so 

that you start to have multipurpose vehicles on the streets during peak time.  They might be moving 

people around.  Other times, at night or in low-congestion times, they might be moving goods around.  

That is a hierarchy to try to help. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Just to go back to this thing about leasing a vehicle, it sounds very nice and you have 

large parts of London where people or councils or whatever through planning do not build any parking, 

but we have a massive population and if this is going to be any significant part of our transport needs, 

where will we park these AVs? 

 

Dan Phillips (GATEway Project, Royal College of Art):  The theory is that if you have shared vehicles, 

you are going to have fewer of them.  I have included a few diagrams in this document showing how, when 

you change the size of vehicles and when you change the amount of sharing that happens with vehicles, 

you can reallocate areas of the street that are currently used for parking vehicles that are sitting there for 

23 hours a day for other uses.  AVs do not have to park outside your door to be useful.  They can be 

garaged -- 

 

Page 23



 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  My point is that they will be parked outside someone’s door.  Someone is going to 

need to look after that vehicle.  I am assuming they will all be electric.  Who is plugging it in?  Who is 

maintaining it? 

 

Dan Phillips (GATEway Project, Royal College of Art):  All of those challenges need to be thought 

about.  For example, at the moment, many local authorities have car sharing areas.  They will have a row of 

car parking spaces available for car share clubs to park their cars.  Imagine that those areas have charging 

points that are perhaps induction based so that you do not have to plug them in; you sit the car on them 

and it charges the vehicle.  Those cars are serviced and looked after and so people will probably maintain 

them.  Think about the car club model but extend it. 

 

Also, think very carefully about how AVs integrate with large public transport interchanges because at the 

moment our public transport interchanges have a lot of problems with huge queues of taxis waiting to pick 

people up and it is not properly built into the system. 

 

Professor Natasha Merat (University of Leeds):  I just want to completely support your vision.  This is 

what I am thinking about when I think about publicly versus privately owned AVs.  If you are interested in 

reading more about it, we had a roundtable discussion organised by the Organisation for Economic Co-

operation and Development (OECD) in Ottawa last year and there is a publication with some work from 

me, University College London (UCL), etc, regarding increasing shared use of AVs.  On the one hand, it 

would be good to have shared AVs but, on the other hand, how do we encourage the public to use them?  

There are things like the fact that normally at the moment a lot of people use their cars just because of a 

habit.  It is making people understand that actually, if they just drop that habit and be able to car-share, it 

will reduce the number of privately owned vehicles.  What will make us car share?  Things like if it is 

comfortable, if it is low cost, if it reduces our time, if it is with people we like, if it has connections, etc.  

There are lots of suggestions of how we can increase the use of these publicly owned shared AVs.  That is 

what a city or a government needs to look into: to educate the public and also to hear from the public 

what they want. 

 

Uber is a very good example where it is what we wanted as citizens.  Unfortunately, according to a DfT 

report a couple of years ago, it has increased privately owned vehicles - Uber has - by 25% in London and 

possibly therefore the emissions.  On the one hand, it is a good example that we as the members of the 

public want that.  On the other hand, if it is not managed and we do not use it as a sharing piece of travel, 

then then it will increase congestion.  It is back to the cities helping these sorts of highly automated 

shared vehicles.  What does the public want?  For a disabled person, it sounds really lovely but, if I cannot 

see where it is, if I cannot get into it because I cannot see or I have mobility problems, then I am not going 

to use it.  Then let us develop systems and that will help the disabled person.  At the moment, it is all very 

kind of high level: it comes and gets you and goes somewhere. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  There is a lot in between. 

 

Professor Natasha Merat (University of Leeds):  We need to work on that and so we need the 

connectivity, we need the charging, we need the infrastructure, etc.  Those are the things.  At the 

moment, there is lots of talking about how this could happen, but we are now in a situation where a city 

can say, “This is how we are going to make it happen.  We are going to invest in this infrastructure.  We 

Page 24



 

 

are going to educate.  We are going to provide connection.  We are going to provide the right apps or 

whatever it might be”. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Just to David [Wong] and Rob [Wallis], is there a technical challenge around reducing 

congestion?  Reading these notes, some say it will reduce congestion on the roads between 50% and 

250% because of how we can stack cars together or train them or whatever.  We have just had a 

conversation about inductive charging.  Will all cars use the same systems?  Do we need regulation to 

suggest that you have to use this kind of system - excuse me - to operate without cars?  Otherwise, we 

will not get that uplift, will we? 

 

Rob Wallis (Chief Executive Officer, Transport Research Laboratory):  There are a number of 

elements to this and I would summarise it down to displacement rather than incremental.  If we start 

introducing these additional services, which are absolutely the way you should be going as a city for 

London, if they become incremental to the current levels of traffic, then we will make things worse.  

Transport for London (TfL) today does an amazing job managing traffic and managing congestion given 

the volumes of traffic that it has.  If it turned off the real-time traffic optimisation capability that it has, we 

would have gridlock very quickly.  TfL is already managing a known problem.  However, a lot of the 

research that is available shows that for the private vehicles going around London at any point in time, 

three-quarters of the time they are actually looking for parking spaces.  Therefore, these are journeys 

rather than services.  You have got buses and taxis providing services in the city and then you have private 

cars typically doing a journey.  If you could start to displace the journeys with incremental services, you 

might end up with fewer vehicles. 

 

Coming back to your point about where these are going to be parked, ideally, they do not park.  They 

keep moving and they are continuing to provide services.  Clearly, they will need maintenance and they will 

need to be shut off at some point for charging and other such things but, generally speaking, it is a bit like 

taxis.  You do not really want them sitting on ranks too long; you want them conducting services on behalf 

of the general public.  We will see an incremental challenge to start with but a very quick shift towards 

displacement. 

 

David Wong (Senior Technology and Innovation Manager, Society of Motor Manufacturers and 

Traders):  I have three quick answers in the interests of time.  Firstly, a DfT-commissioned study 

published earlier this year shows that the modelling undertaken on urban roads with peak traffic and low 

numbers of AVs - this is not London but they did the modelling - showed that there could be up to a 12% 

reduction in delays and an increase of 21% in journey time reliability.  This was a study published by the 

DfT, which it commissioned Atkins to undertake. 

 

Secondly, the vision of the automotive industry of the future is autonomous, connected, electrified and 

shared (ACES).  In terms of shared, we think that in the first instance it will be in the urban context and in 

the urban environment.  As my colleagues alluded to, these would mean a high utilisation rate, a high 

occupancy rate and by implication - ceteris paribus, all things constant - fewer cars on the road.  We hear 

from the amazing work that TfL has done and we also hear from them that one shared vehicle takes away 

about eight to 10 privately owned vehicles on the road. 

 

However, what is critical is what our vehicle manufacturing members have experienced in terms of running 

car sharing services.  They have been telling us that, because of the fragmentation of the boroughs in 

Page 25



 

 

London and sometimes conflicting priorities, they have run into various stumbling blocks in terms of 

deploying car sharing services.  One of them exited the London market and exited the UK market 

altogether a few years ago for largely the same reasons: they just could not make car sharing work despite 

how promising car sharing services are because of the conflicting priorities of some of these London 

boroughs.  Perhaps the Committee may wish to look into that matter a little bit further. 

 

Thirdly and lastly, really, when we talk about future transport technology and alleviating congestion, it is 

not just all about AVs.  Autonomous or not, what is quite important is to have some distributed digital 

platforms to enable people to know that essentially where they should go and at what sort of time, 

perhaps diversions, telling you, “This particular route is heavily congested.  Take this one”, but you need 

that in real time.  You need to bring all the modes of transport together, all the different types of transport 

together, and put it in the hands of the consumer and empower the consumer to make the decision.  We 

do not have that currently.  An all-encompassing digital platform to enable a distributed system - which 

the Transport Systems Catapult would call intelligent mobility - is quite critical, whether it is autonomous 

or not. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Just one final point, Chairman.  It is interesting reading the Royal College of Art’s 

study and reading the public’s hopes and fears because they are two sides of the same coin.  There are 

things in here like the loss of jobs and skills.  People are worried about that - bus drivers, cab drivers - and 

their livelihoods going away.  People are saying their cities will grow because, as we get used to what is 

termed our ‘useful journeys’, I can write in the back of the car because I am not driving. 

 

The thing that is troubling me the most, though, is the transition.  It says here, “A transition to single-

surface roadways”.  As cars become autonomous or buses or whatever, we will not have that distinction 

between a kerb or not and the issues that might generate for people.  There is a human element here as 

well because it says, “Eye contact cannot be made with an autonomous car”, because oftentimes you will 

not step off the kerb until that driver has acknowledged you. 

 

Are these just behaviour changes or will there be some losers from this utopia of moving towards AVs?   

 

Dan Phillips (GATEway Project, Royal College of Art):  We see hopes and fears as challenges and 

opportunities for the industry, for the public, for politicians and for everybody engaged in this field to 

come up with solutions.  Rather than ignoring people’s hopes or ignoring people’s fears, we should use 

these as the basis of our design development.  The more that we can share this knowledge with the 

industry and with other stakeholders, the better.  I see, as I say, a great opportunity to create a calmer and 

more people-centred city, but there are challenges on the way and we have to take into account 

everybody’s point of view. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Do any of our guests see that these AVs could affect the physical layout of our roads, 

our city, our streets?  Currently, we talk about Healthy Streets and we are making a push to make walking 

and cycling safer.  Will AVs support that or will they challenge that? 

 

Dan Phillips (GATEway Project, Royal College of Art):  I see them as supporting it but I am open to 

other perspectives. 

 

Page 26



 

 

Professor Natasha Merat (University of Leeds):  They would support it, yes.  On the eye contact, 

there is some new work being done by many of the manufacturers looking at external messaging, lights, 

etc., that will then interact instead of the driver inside.  It is very much work in progress.  A new 

International Organization for Standardization (ISO) meeting has been set up on it.  They are becoming 

aware that there needs to be some communication externally with people to say, “I noticed you”, or, “I am 

going to stop”, or whatever to replace the driver inside. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Thank you. 

 

Rob Wallis (Chief Executive Officer, Transport Research Laboratory):  If I can very briefly add just 

one final point on that, from a TRL perspective, we are doing quite a lot of work on this transition away 

from the human driver looking through a safety critical device - a windscreen - and being informed of 

traffic lights, road signs and so on towards connected vehicles.  Not so much complete automation 

necessarily, but the vehicle itself being a lot more informed electronically so that you can start to 

completely rethink the street furniture around the vehicle; whether it is pavement structures, whether it is 

the concept of a red traffic light.  A red traffic light is really there more to tell a driver to stop, but, if the 

vehicle already knows it needs to stop electronically, why have a red traffic light? 

 

Dan Phillips (GATEway Project, Royal College of Art):  Those traffic lights are also for pedestrians 

and for cyclists -- 

 

Rob Wallis (Chief Executive Officer, Transport Research Laboratory):  Absolutely. 

 

Dan Phillips (GATEway Project, Royal College of Art):  -- and so are we going to get rid of the 

transport infrastructure? 

 

Rob Wallis (Chief Executive Officer, Transport Research Laboratory):  No, but it will change over 

time. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  That is where the tension lies, where you as a human being have to interact with this 

thing that you are not aware of.  It may have all the information in the world but you have none of it and 

there is a tension there.  Also, the technical challenge: how are you going to go to several different 

manufacturers and make sure they all respond to the system that we put in in London?  We may have one 

traffic light but, if you build cars internationally, you are going to build cars specifically for our market, 

which may be in trouble. 

 

Professor Natasha Merat (University of Leeds):  That is where standards come in. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Thank you, Chairman. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Thank you very much.   

 

Navin Shah AM:  I want to raise the topic of transport inequality.  Already, Mr Phillips, you have 

mentioned the community buses.  You also referred to assistance for older and disabled people and 

connectivity in terms of transport deserts.  Can you start with an overarching question and that is: will AV 

technology help to combat transport inequality in London? 

Page 27



 

 

 

Dan Phillips (GATEway Project, Royal College of Art):  It can do if we design the systems right and if 

the technologists get the price right and if the system is designed to engage with people who are currently 

excluded for whatever reason.  It can improve accessibility because it can bring the right vehicle to you 

rather than leave you stranded.  It can reduce the cost per mile for passengers and for service providers.  It 

can reach areas that are currently underserved. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  There is the issue about better access.  Both of you were talking about connectivity for 

those areas which are not adequately served, as well as how it is about benefits for older and disabled 

people.  Can you enlarge upon that?  In your paper as well, you mentioned those two or three critical areas 

because, with innovation and with modern technology, you would have better vehicles, which should 

provide better accessibility, whether it is, for example, somebody in a wheelchair or an old person who 

should have better facilities from more modern vehicles.  Will there be a major change in those terms with 

AV technology? 

 

Dan Phillips (GATEway Project, Royal College of Art):  If we separate out AV technology, which is 

the technology that drives cars around and that you can call to you and that you can then get into and 

use, the technology has to be inclusive.  You have to be able to engage with it no matter your physical 

abilities.  That is a starting point.  Then, in terms of the actual physical shape and design of the vehicles, 

again, there is a big move in the motoring industry to design for more inclusivity, but we need to go even 

further than we have already.  Because of the fact that you do not need to steer a vehicle, you will end up 

providing more mobility and better mobility to people who are currently excluded. 

 

We have met with a lot of people with disabilities who are very excited about this independence that they 

may currently lack, but there is a whole area of study to go into in terms of what inclusive autonomous 

transport looks like in London.  We are doing a project with the Royal Automobile Club (RAC) Foundation 

with some of our first-year students to investigate that in more detail at the moment. 

 

Professor Natasha Merat (University of Leeds):  Can I just add something?  At the moment, these 

vehicles need nice straight sections of road with nice white lines that they follow or to be mapped in 

particular areas.  In terms of the transport deserts, I guess, yes, the answer is it can do but it needs the 

infrastructure to do it.  That is the main key.  If it is the wish that the vehicle is basically put somewhere 

where, at the moment, nothing else can move, hoping that the people who, in terms of inter-urban areas, 

are currently stuck because of lack of infrastructure, then for now, and for the foreseeable future, these 

vehicles will not be able to help those people, either.  It is around the infrastructure and the connectivity 

being in place and, yes, then they can do. 

 

David Wong (Senior Technology and Innovation Manager, Society of Motor Manufacturers and 

Traders):  If you are interested in some figures, we commissioned a study conducted by 

PricewaterhouseCoopers earlier this year on the impact of connected AVs - and I say “connected AVs” 

because people with limited mobility need some sort of connectivity before they can hail these services - 

on sections of society with limited mobility, i.e. the aged, the infirm, people with disabilities and the very 

young.  There were some salient findings here.  Six in ten people with limited mobility in the study said 

that they foresee a higher quality of life thanks to connected AV technology.  Half with mobility-related 

disabilities said that they could pursue hobbies outside of home thanks to connected AVs.  Two in five 

believe that they will get better access to healthcare as a result of connected AVs.  Quite interestingly, 

Page 28



 

 

47% of older people believe that connected and AVs would help them more easily fulfil simple day-to-day 

tasks like grocery shopping. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Mr Wallis, do you want to come in? 

 

Rob Wallis (Chief Executive Officer, Transport Research Laboratory):  My colleagues have probably 

covered most of it here.  I come back to this point, I suppose, about the difference between products and 

services.  We have talked a lot about AV products and technology, but for me the answer really is services.  

Increasingly we are seeing cities around the world starting to look at this as not the introduction of 

technology products, which is perhaps where the automotive industry has in the past come from 

traditionally, in terms of manufacturing and releasing new products that can do better things, but cities are 

looking more at how they create services to meet the needs of all of the different types of citizens within 

that city, whether those are some of those with the challenges that we have talked about.  What I am 

encouraged by is the way the automotive industry in the last couple of years has dramatically shifted its 

own focus towards services as well as just manufacturing and selling products.  We are seeing a very strong 

convergence between the two now.  For a city like London, to make sure the services that it starts to 

create and evolve and allow over time through licencing and other such instruments, it needs to make sure 

that the accessibility agenda becomes a key part of that licensing decision and it is not just the commercial 

benefits to the organisations that come in and provide those services that are driving the agenda, but 

actually the social inclusion part of it is balanced as part of that.   

 

Navin Shah AM:  What is unclear at the moment is the cost.  From the information we have, it seems that 

the experts, as well as the various studies that have been done, do not quite indicate whether AV will be 

cheaper or will be more expensive than cars currently are.  Are there any studies and are we able to assess 

what the cost implications are likely to be? 

 

Rob Wallis (Chief Executive Officer, Transport Research Laboratory):  If I can make an observation, 

from a recent meeting I had with Google and the team looking at their autonomous vehicle programme, 

they have been looking very much at the unit cost of introducing autonomy into vehicles.  They have 

recently decided to move away from a concept of developing their own vehicle and are pushing more 

towards selling an autonomous system to the automotive industry.  Other technology companies are doing 

very similar things.  They have been looking at the unit cost of all the technology that goes into a vehicle; 

in particular, the concept of a lidar device that typically is on the roof of a number of these Google 

vehicles.  You may have seen a picture of the kit that goes on the roof.  They have managed to reduce the 

unit cost of that within 12 months by 90%.  The speed of innovation in the technology is absolutely 

driving down the unit costs of all of this technology very fast.  Today it is financially prohibitive to really 

look at buying a large number of these to operate a fleet, but five years from now that commercial 

proposition is going to be very different. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  Thank you. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Thank you very much.   

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Can I just ask firstly though about the infrastructure requirements?  Perhaps I 

could start with David.  You talked about car sharing companies often finding that they could not 

necessarily get parking spaces in a local authority and so forth.  Obviously, if this is to work, we have to 

Page 29



 

 

have the infrastructure there.  As far as the car manufacturers are concerned, is there a common 

infrastructure that is required?  You talked about induction charging earlier.  If you look at these things, 

you have X number of chargers needed, depending on your particular model.  Is there a common 

requirement that is being developed amongst all manufacturers? 

 

David Wong (Senior Technology and Innovation Manager, Society of Motor Manufacturers and 

Traders):  We need to separate the two issues here.  One is on electrification and the other is, obviously, 

on connected AVs.  Of course, on electrification there is a whole debate out there about different 

standards, inter-operability of charging, infrastructure, so on and so forth.  If we leave that aside and look 

at AVs, certainly you hit the nail on the head in terms of car sharing services, autonomous or not, 

obviously, infrastructure is needed, i.e. parking.  Some of our vehicle manufacture members running car 

sharing services currently in London have come into quite a number of stumbling blocks, if you like, with 

the boroughs. 

 

Going forward, in terms of infrastructure, one that is really of concern to the industry at the moment is 

connectivity.  Maybe it is not such a huge concern in London because you have great connectivity in 

central London.  In pockets of Greater London perhaps there may be some issues.  Certainly, we see this as 

an issue outside London, particularly on the pockets of the Strategic Road Network, the motorways and 

more on the A-roads and the B-roads.  I am talking about digital connectivity, telecommunications 

connectivity.  Although AVs can, in theory, function without any connectivity, in the industry we believe 

that connectivity complements autonomy.  A vehicle with this combination of sensor fusion and its 

artificial intelligence system can drive itself, can perceive, can process and then make a decision.  We 

believe that if it knows what it is around the corner because something is telling the vehicle that a car is 

jumping the red lights, it could take evasive action, where there is autonomous breaking or basically it 

does something to avoid a collision.  Connectivity matters.  What we are saying is that this digital 

infrastructure is lacking generally in the UK, because strictly speaking on UK roads only 48% of the entire 

UK road network has complete 3G coverage and 18% 4G.  That is not quite good enough.  Obviously, if 

you are talking about central London, I believe the rates are higher; the connectivity and coverage is much 

better, but that is something that is really central. 

 

The other thing, of course, in the first instance for these vehicles to be able to perceive the road, white 

lines are quite important as well as some of the physical infrastructure.  We are talking about moving 

eventually to completely digital, whereby the speed limit could be transmitted by local authorities or 

Highways England digitally into the cars.  That will be a possibility somewhere down the line.  In the first 

instance, white lines and road signage are quite important. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  TfL and local authorities have a big role to play in this infrastructure, even in 

London, which is relatively well connected.  Do you get the sense that TfL is playing that role currently? 

 

Rob Wallis (Chief Executive Officer, Transport Research Laboratory):  Yes, if I can comment on 

that.  The role that TfL is playing in supporting, for example, a lot of the initiatives that TRL and the Royal 

College of Art and other organisations are working on for trials and research and also the work they are 

doing on electrification, their participation in the Zeus project, the European project looking at 

electrification of buses and induction charging solutions for buses.  There are a whole range of different 

initiatives.  You may be aware of work that Bays and the DfT are doing through Innovate UK, to introduce 

the concept of Living Lab test environments.  There is a proposal for a London-based Smart Mobility 

Page 30



 

 

Living Lab, which is currently being considered by central Government at the moment, and TfL is a key 

player in that, sponsoring that from a stakeholder point of view, so that we can create a real-life test 

environment, predominantly around Greenwich but not exclusively - it is really for the whole of London - 

to really try out a number of these new technologies and these new services.  It is very much about 

services and not just around the technical products themselves.   

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  If I can go on to bus services, can you just explain to me the potential benefits 

of autonomous buses for London and what the barriers and risks are in rolling these out?  Rob, do you 

want to start? 

 

Rob Wallis (Chief Executive Officer, Transport Research Laboratory):  We know there are already 

some significant challenges in London of any large, heavy vehicles in particular, whether it is trucks or 

buses, in relation to vulnerable road users, cyclists and pedestrians in particular.  A lot of work is being 

done to improve the safety, particularly the line of sight of bus drivers and truck drivers, to be more 

spatially aware of what is going on around them, so that they can drive more defensively.  The 

introduction of greater levels of automation and driver assist or indeed potentially no driver can only 

improve the safety aspects of that over time, once those technical solutions are proven and robust and 

licenced.  One of the downsides of that, of course, is what that means for all of these bus drivers currently 

operating in London.  There is a job transition downside to this, but that is arguably the same with any 

similar service.  There was an interesting statistic out of the US market where the single most prolific job 

title of any career whatsoever across the whole of the US includes the word ‘driver’.  The introduction of 

autonomy could suddenly have a massive economic issue for any country or any city embarking on levels 

of automation.  That is obviously not just for transportation; that is the same with any kind of robotic type 

scenario. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Does anyone else want to talk about the benefits and risks? 

 

Professor Natasha Merat (University of Leeds):  I just want to add that I guess again it depends on 

what level of automation we are talking about.  If we are talking about the lower levels of automation, 1 

and 2, that will assist the bus driver in being a better driver and we can see that coming soon.  I assume 

that we are going to see a very different kind of automated bus, smaller perhaps, like you were saying, 

lighter, so that when it crashes into vulnerable road users it is not as bad as the current ones.  I just keep 

thinking about my colleagues in aviation saying, “We still have pilots in the cockpit after all these years of 

aviation”, so I am not sure whether I fully see that suddenly all bus drivers are going to lose their jobs in 

the next 20 or so years at least.  They will maybe just have different kinds of jobs.  We will still need 

humans to watch the systems.  Even if we manage to get as sophisticated as aeroplanes where, as I say, 

there are pilots in there, they might not do much, but they are still in there to make sure everything is 

working.  I see that model is probably more likely.   

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  A driver more focused on customer service, for example, as opposed to the 

vehicles themselves. 

 

Professor Natasha Merat (University of Leeds):  Absolutely, we will just have to wait and see how 

things develop, for sure.  Jobs do change.  In terms of when horses were changed for cars, people will 

change accordingly.  In the longer term, there will be a need for different kinds of services by us as human 

beings, but it does not mean that we suddenly lose lots of jobs and the economy is affected.  

Page 31



 

 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Rob, we talked earlier about what TfL is doing for autonomous buses.  Could 

you give a little bit more detail about what they are doing and what they should be doing that they are not 

doing at the moment? 

 

Rob Wallis (Chief Executive Officer, Transport Research Laboratory):  Gosh, they are doing a lot of 

things.  There is always a desire to go faster, but there is always the challenge: should TfL as a public 

service organisation be funding initiatives or should it be creating an environment where industry, at its 

cost, can come and trial things?  This concept of a Living Lab, which hopefully is going to be set up in 

London - and there is a similar one predominantly focused around the automotive industry in the Midlands 

- will be very much an industry funding things and coming and paying to play and, in the case of London, 

TfL and the local authorities involved providing an environment where they can play safely.  ‘Play’ is 

probably not the right word, but you know what I mean.  I see TfL playing a very critical enabling role, not 

a funding role, except for where it is specifically relating to buses and bus services.  They have already 

tried to find ways of participating without doing things specifically for London.  The Zeus project is with 

12 different cities across EU member states and so there is an element of sharing the benefits and sharing 

the costs of being involved in such programmes. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Thank you.   

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Thank you very much indeed.  That has been a really interesting first 

session.   

Page 32



© Copyright 2017 TRL Ltd

September 2017London Assembly Transport Committee
Future Transport - September 2017

P
age 33

lpelling
Typewritten Text
Appendix 2



2

Pre-trial workshops Exhibition In vehicle trials

P
age 34



3

Future Utopia

P
age 35



4

Future Dystopia

P
age 36



Index

1. Likely scale of Autonomous Vehicles in London in the next 10-20 years.
2. Ethical and safety concerns around use of AVs on the road network.
3. What impact AVs could have on traffic congestion in London.
4. What impact AVs could have on transport inequalities in London.
5. Potential benefits and risks of autonomous buses.

5

P
age 37



1. Likely scale of Autonomous Vehicles in 
London in the next 10-20 years.

▪ Dependent on replacement of existing vehicles, speed of technical progress 
together with political and community support.

▪ 2020 - 25: Many new cars will have basic autonomous features (e.g. advanced 
cruise control, lane change and crash avoidance and self-parking) - level 3.

▪ 2025 - 2030:  All new vehicles will have advanced autonomous features (e.g. 
ability to follow the highway code, pick up, navigate, collision avoidance, 
communication with other road users and traffic management systems, drop 
off, self-park as well as the ability to recharge and attend maintenance 
facilities without support) - level 4

▪ 2030-40, Many new vehicles will have full autonomous capabilities (e.g. 
without direct steering override and unmarked terrain) - level 5

6

P
age 38



Different types of AVs

▪ A range of AVs for people and goods movement
▪ Shared, Public and Private vehicles
▪ From assisting disabled people to inclusive community buses
▪ 1 to 20 people + 

 

7

P
age 39



PA Bot

8▪ An inclusive personal assistant

P
age 40



M-Step

9▪ A vehicle that supports wellbeing through exercise

P
age 41



ReCharge

10▪ A comfortable private space to recharge 

P
age 42



CityOasis

11▪ A relaxing lounge on wheels

P
age 43



AV Family

12▪ A vehicle that improves family well being

P
age 44



FLEXi Bus

13▪ An inclusive shuttle for communal journeys 

P
age 45



School Bus

14▪ A vehicle to energise young students for the day

P
age 46



Health2Community

15▪ Providing accessible healthcare to isolated communities

P
age 47



Circular Services

16▪ A vehicle that collects waste and cleans our streets

P
age 48



2. Ethical and safety concerns around use of 
AVs on the road network.

▪ Avoiding collisions
▪ Negotiating rights of way with other people and vehicles including pedestrians and cyclists
▪ Designing to support inclusivity
▪ How vehicles interact with each other
▪ Ownership and control of AVs
▪ Understanding the algorithms that control the navigation system
▪ How transparent / understandable AV services are to the general public
▪ How far empty vehicles can travel / at what speed / what cost
▪ Hacking/Firewalls/Malware
▪ Terrorism
▪ Drivers Licensing
▪ Child safety/Parental controls
▪ In-vehicle advertising and data privacy
▪ Remote control of vehicles e.g. Tesla
▪ Quality of ride e.g. speed of cornering, indication time etc.

17

P
age 49



People’s hopes and fears

18

P
age 50



Public fears

▪ Safety:
▪ Greater use of quieter and driverless vehicles makes the city less safe for 

partially sighted or distracted pedestrians / cyclists
▪ Transition to single surface roadways will make it harder for people with 

additional needs to navigate and cross streets
▪ Can’t make eye contact with an autonomous vehicle
▪ Ethical dilemmas around accidents 

19

P
age 51



Public fears

▪ Ownership:
▪ Less opportunity to personalise our vehicles 

▪ Sharing:
▪ Increased potential for antisocial behaviour when there are no drivers.
▪ Shared, dirty and ‘not cared for’ vehicles

▪ Environment:
▪ Cities will grow as people accept longer ‘useful’ journeys
▪ Driverless vehicles will compete with public transport making streets 

even busier than before
▪ An invisible network that makes the city less legible
▪ Dead high streets as more and more is delivered by just-in-time vehicles

20

P
age 52



Public fears

▪ Social & Cultural issues
▪ Big business will control our transport based on profit and track us 

constantly 
▪ Cities will become more isolated, robotic and inhuman
▪ We’ll become lazier as door to door journeys become easier and cheaper
▪ Job losses and loss of skills
▪ Vehicles start to tout for business
▪ Vehicles create a lonely isolated and more disconnected environment
▪ Low cost door-to-door vehicles encourage laziness 
▪ Inhumane and robotic systems that are pre-programmed and dull

21

P
age 53



Public hopes

▪ Safety:
▪ Safe streets, even for pets and urban wildlife
▪ No more drunk, rude or dangerous drivers

▪ Ownership:
▪ A spare room we can take on our travels

▪ Sharing:
▪ Travel on Demand - less need for centralised transport infrastructure

22

P
age 54



Public hopes

▪ Environment:
▪ Redesign our streets for people
▪ Quiet, clean and pollution free
▪ No need to park
▪ Smaller vehicles as you don’t need to pay for the driver
▪ More self-diagnosis so that vehicles can take themselves for a service 

before becoming unsafe, noisy etc.

23

P
age 55



Public hopes

▪ Social & Cultural issues
▪ More comfortable commutes and journeys
▪ Driverless vehicles for all – accessible and affordable transportation
▪ More time to do fun or useful things on journeys
▪ Advertise local businesses and events

24

P
age 56



Commercial streets

25

P
age 57



Commercial streets

26

P
age 58



Residential streets

27

P
age 59



Residential streets

28

P
age 60



Reimagining streets

29

P
age 61



What regulation is needed, eg licensing, 
insurance

▪ Digital driving tests
▪ Physical driving tests - (e.g. voice recognition software should be able to 

recognise human commands)
▪ Advanced physical driving tests
▪ Redundant control systems (cf. airline industry)
▪ Insurance similar to no fault insurance in the airline industry

30

P
age 62



Response to the ‘no win scenario’ dilemma for 
avoiding collisions

▪ Follow highway code
▪ Drive no faster than conditions allow 
▪ Programme response to people and other vehicles / road conditions / light / 

weather conditions etc
▪ Moral coding overrides profit maximisation

31

P
age 63



3. What impact AVs could have on traffic 
congestion in London.

▪ Can be utopian or dystopian. To manage congestion:
▪ Make streets walking and cycling friendly
▪ Extend cycling schemes to include electric bikes and other forms of 

enhanced personal mobility
▪ Use autonomous systems to extend the reach and affordability of public 

transport
▪ Develop a range of different sized AVs that are fit for purpose 
▪ Build sharing technology into AV services from the start
▪ Develop multipurpose vehicles that combine people and goods 

movement 

32

P
age 64



Impact on car ownership, occupancy levels 
and frequency of use

▪ AVs can reduce the likelihood of car ownership
▪ AVs can increase occupancy levels if they are sized to meet need
▪ AVs can increase frequency of use if they are priced at a low enough level to 

compete with public transport
▪ AVs can increase the car and ride sharing industry 

33

P
age 65



How shared ownership and pooling can be 
encouraged

▪ Build sharing into AV systems
▪ Design vehicles / pricing models to meet need
▪ Make AVs accessible (physically and spatially within the city)
▪ Enhance quality of shared / public vehicles to compete with private vehicles 

(cf mobile phone platforms)

34

P
age 66



How TfL can mitigate the risks of increased 
congestion

▪ Integration of AV into public transport (both vehicles and interchanges)
▪ Diversity of vehicle types
▪ Show spatial and environmental benefits of AVs

 

35

P
age 67



4. What impact AVs could have on transport 
inequalities in London

▪ Can reduce transport inequalities
▪ Improve accessibility
▪ Reduce costs per mile for service providers and passengers
▪ Reach areas that are currently underserved

36

P
age 68



Whether AVs can improve connectivity of 
‘transport deserts’

▪ Flexibus concept can fill gaps between current public transport network

37

P
age 69



Whether AVs will be affordable for all

▪ Likely to follow similar trajectory to mobile computing devices 
▪ Current estimates vary from 33% of vehicle cost to $250,000
▪ Compatible vehicles can be retrofitted for as little as £1k
▪ All Tesla vehicles have the hardware needed for full self-driving capability

38

P
age 70



5. Potential benefits and risks of autonomous 
buses

▪ Benefits
▪ Reduce cost of public transport
▪ Increase flexibility of public transport
▪ Provide greater accessibility 

▪ Risks
▪ Increase congestion if larger number of smaller vehicles
▪ Reduced labour force
▪ Increase insurance and liability costs
▪ Increased antisocial behaviour
▪ Potential crime / terrorism issues

39

P
age 71



How TfL can encourage their development and 
use

▪ Public engagement
▪ Competitions
▪ Prototypes
▪ Test environments
▪ Trials

40

P
age 72



Impact on the bus driver workforce

▪ Likely to be vital part of service especially in busy and complex environments
▪ New roles and responsibilities: 

▪ Improving accessibility and inclusivity
▪ Championing public experience
▪ Dealing with anti-social behaviour

▪ Be part of design development team
▪ Support trials and roll out 

41

P
age 73



Contacts

42

▪ Dale.Harrow@rca.ac.uk
▪ Rama.Gheerawo@rca.ac.uk
▪ Dan.Phillips@rca.ac.uk 
▪ Sam.Johnson@rca.ac.uk
▪ Dan.Quinlan@rca.ac.uk
▪ Paul.Piliste@network.rca.ac.uk 

 

P
age 74

mailto:Dale.Harrow@rca.ac.uk
mailto:Rama.Gheerawo@rca.ac.uk
mailto:Dan.phillips@rca.ac.uk
mailto:Sam.johnson@rca.ac.uk
mailto:Dan.Quinlan@rca.ac.uk
mailto:Paul.Piliste@network.rca.ac.uk


 

 

Appendix 3 
 

Transport Committee – Tuesday, 12 September 2017 
 

Transcript of Agenda Item 5 – Future Transport 
 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Welcome, Chris Lane.  You are the Head of Smart Travel and 

Transport for West Midlands. 

 

Chris Lane (Head of Smart Travel, Transport for the West Midlands):  That is right, thank you. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Brian Matthews is Head of Transport Innovation for Milton Keynes 

Council. 

 

Brian Matthews (Head of Transport Innovation, Milton Keynes Council):  That is right, thank 

you. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Professor Maria Kamargianni is from University College London 

(UCL) and Jonn Elledge is from CityMetric.  Thank you very much for giving us your time this morning.  

It is very kind of you. 

 

I shall start the questions with Mr Lane, Chris.  Autonomous vehicles (AVs): can I start with Chris?  

Based on the evidence heard in the previous session -- I do not know if you were here? 

 

Chris Lane (Head of Smart Travel, Transport for the West Midlands):  I heard some of that, 

yes. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  What are the potential risks and benefits of AVs for London? 

 

Chris Lane (Head of Smart Travel, Transport for the West Midlands):  You had a really good 

discussion about AVs earlier.  Benefits: the big one for AVs is safety.  Potentially, if that is done right, 

you can improve safety.  If AVs are also electric vehicles, which is a big debate in itself, then that helps 

in terms of pollution.  If AVs are running correctly in terms of road space, you can get more vehicles 

on the road.  Again, from a London perspective it is working out how that fits in with your mass-

transit system and making sure that AVs do not detract from the really good work that has already 

happened to carry Londoners around in the very efficient way that you do at the moment.  They do 

have some advantages, but potentially, if they become very popular and very cheap, they could 

detract from your mass-transit systems as well. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Thank you.  In addition to that, Brian, you have specific knowledge.  

In Milton Keynes, you did a trial with AVs.  Could you add that knowledge? 

 

Brian Matthews (Head of Transport Innovation, Milton Keynes Council):  In Milton Keynes, 

we are leading on the Autodrive project, which is probably one of the largest of the tests going on in 

the UK at the moment.  We are two years into that project.  We have set the context of what we 

Page 75



 

 

wanted to achieve in Milton Keynes very much to look at the technology and what it can achieve for 

our city.  Milton Keynes, as you probably know, is a growing city.  We are due to double in size over 

the next 20 years.  If we continue as we are we are going to suffer from terrible congestion, air quality 

issues, mobility issues, etc.  We have set the demonstration trials in Milton Keynes to start to look to 

address what is the value in autonomy in connective vehicles and helping solve some of our forecast 

problems.  They are not going to solve all of them, but we have concentrated very much on 

congestion and capacity issues in our network.  We know we cannot double the size of the road 

network, but we are doubling the size of travel demand.  What are the real capacity benefits and 

improved capacity that the networks can realistically gain from automation?  What is the timeline for 

achieving that?  Are there some pain points that we will have to go through to get to that end goal?  

The tests are very much looking at those.   

 

We are also very much looking at the last-mile solution.  I heard the debate earlier about the right size 

of the vehicles.  That is why we have chosen in our city centre to operate pods on pavements, to have 

small door-to-door services that can meet a specific demand to increase connectivity and mobility 

within our city centre. 

 

Finally, we are looking at two other areas.  Productivity: you can do something else while you are in a 

vehicle; you are not sitting in a traffic jam having to control the vehicle.  We are interested in the 

mobility aspects: what mobility options do AVs create for the young and old who perhaps chose not to 

drive or do not want to drive or we have legislation that prevents them from driving because they are 

under 17?  We focused our project very much on looking at the real problems that the city faces. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Very interesting.  Would you like to add anything to that? 

 

Professor Maria Kamargianni (University College London):  I agree with Chris [Lane] and Brian 

[Matthews], and I want to focus especially on that with AVs citizens could use their travel time more 

productively; therefore, they can have a positive utility of their travel time.  We have seen this with 

the recent research we conducted at UCL for public transport users.  When they work or when they 

watch movies while travelling with public transport this increases their satisfaction.  With AVs there is 

no need to drive; therefore, we can improve the quality of our travel time and also our life. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Thank you.  Do you want to add anything, Jonn? 

 

Jonn Elledge (Editor, CityMetric):  In contrast to the rest of the panel, I do not really know a great 

deal.  I am basically just a shouty guy with a blog.  I am going to do little more than regurgitate things 

that clever people have said, but I really, I suspect, am going to be rather better at posing questions 

than answering them.  Nonetheless, there are a number of questions that I have come across that are 

worth considering, one which is induced traffic, which is a real phenomenon.  I am sure we have all 

had the experience of apps like Waze or something like that where they direct you along a slightly 

longer route than normal in pursuit of marginal gains in journey time.  I would worry slightly that the 

more AVs there are on the roads the more those vehicles are going to be going the long way around.  

There are implications there for congestion, etc.   

 

Also, some of the ethical concerns or unintended consequences are things that are not going to be 

clear until we have AVs on a large scale.  One of the pieces we published quite early on in CityMetric’s 

Page 76



 

 

history that did very well for us was a piece talking about, if a car on a very narrow road is about to 

run over a child, there has to be some programming as to what the response is.  Do you kill the child 

or do you kill the driver?  Someone has to make those decisions.  Maybe it is a tech firm, maybe it is a 

political decision, I do not know, but there are all sorts of consequences.  That is quite a sinister way 

of putting it.  If you think of it differently, you can imagine a situation in which it becomes a game in 

which kids try to stop AVs by just throwing a ball in front of them or something.  Until this stuff is 

happening at large scale, I almost do not think we know exactly what it is going to look like in 

practice.  You need to be thinking about this stuff upfront, but I do not think you can necessarily get 

your answers on that.   

 

The other thing, from listening to the debate so far it sounds a lot like we are assuming full autonomy, 

and obviously there are different levels of these things.  As I understand it, full AVs in which you can 

basically sit there, and watch a movie, and let the car get on with it are known as level 5, but there are 

a number of steps to get us to that.  It seems to me more likely that in the medium term at least we 

are going to be talking about largely AVs but where occasionally someone has to step in.  That brings 

up all sorts of questions as to how we manage that transition, too. 

 

As I warned at the beginning, I fear I am asking far more questions than actually providing answers.  

Nonetheless, there are some questions for the panel. 

 

Brian Matthews (Head of Transport Innovation, Milton Keynes Council):  I was just going to 

make a point on the productivity that was raised earlier.  We have concluded a national survey on that, 

and the expectation was that you are going to use the time to do all sorts of things, but the big 

response was, “We do nothing while we are in the vehicle”, or, “We would look out of the window”.  

That was 70% of responses.  You do get some surprises.  From all the technology, you can watch 

films, you can play with the email, but people want to do nothing sometimes. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  That is very interesting.   

 

Caroline Russell AM:  I am going to move us on to talk about apps, the stuff that we have on our 

phones that help us all get around the city.  We are all used to using Citymapper, which is completely 

incredible.  It does it by time of day, and it knows when the trains start and stop running, and it is 

hugely helpful if you are trying to get around a city, particularly for A-to-B types of journeys.  

However, there are other apps that are offering the kind of services that you pay for, like Uber and 

the various bike-hire apps.  Those are selling one particular service for one particular company rather 

than offering you a choice.  Some of the apps like Citymapper or Google Maps would offer you 

choices of different ways of making your journey from A to B. 

 

It is a general question for all of you.  In what ways have smart-phone apps transformed transport in 

London, and where do you think this technology can go next?  Who wants to go first? 

 

Chris Lane (Head of Smart Travel, Transport for the West Midlands):  Can I first of all say that 

the work from TfL has done a lot to help this market.  The excellent work on open application 

programming interfaces (APIs) to allow that data to be used and the excellent work on providing real-

time bus/tram/train information has stimulated this market, and it is probably seen as the world 

leader in providing this type of information.  You have Citymapper only because of the good work the 

Page 77



 

 

guys at TfL have done to get that data to them.  That being said, one of the implications for apps is 

that that data is now Citymapper’s data and not TfL’s data.  The data about the customer, the 

information that is gathered, that insight is now one step removed from the people who could do 

something to improve the transport. 

 

I suppose the big thing for me with apps is to try to make them a bit more open; a bit more give-and-

take.  Yes, the authority has lots of very good information from highways to transit, but they should 

also be getting back the information from the app providers as to where people go, what they do and 

what their choices are so that can better inform the whole of the transport network.  It will probably 

come up later, but I would like to talk about Mobility-as-a-Service as an app that brings together 

multiple providers. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  It is coming up later. 

 

Chris Lane (Head of Smart Travel, Transport for the West Midlands):  Yes.  That will be one of 

the opportunities to talk about how you bring those variety of services together and those variety of 

apps together in one place to give the customer that sort of one-stop service. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Thank you. 

 

Brian Matthews (Head of Transport Innovation, Milton Keynes Council):  Our experience in 

Milton Keynes is very much what -- it has just been introduced, the Mobility-as-a-Service and how we 

brought all the apps, information and data together into one hub so that there is one point of 

contact.  The opportunity, now we are all very familiar with apps and everybody uses them, is about 

grasping that and it is getting the data, the information and the usefulness of that app right first time.  

The worst thing is when you start using an app and it does not work.  You will not go back to that app 

and you will wait for the next one.  It has to be timed correctly and be an all-encompassing product.  

That is what Mobility-as-a-Service is and what we are trying to achieve.  West Midlands are doing 

that, and Milton Keynes is doing its own version. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Thank you.  Maria. 

 

Professor Maria Kamargianni (University College London):  Definitely the smartphone-based 

apps have contributed to an increase of public transport modes and active transport modes because 

they provide better information and they provide real-time information.  We can see the location of 

the vehicles and we can estimate our waiting time; this is something that is very important for the 

user.  There are a lot of amazing apps like journey planners, but then also each operator and each 

transport mode has its own app.  Some of these apps collaborate.  For example, Citymapper provides 

information about public transport modes, and Uber and bike sharing, but they still do not provide 

information about intermodal trips in order to go from A to B and combine bike sharing and then Uber 

or car sharing.  This is something that they are working on, but we need apps that provide intermodal 

information.   

 

Nowadays the situation has started getting out of control.  We have too many apps that provide 

different types of information.  For example, if I want to use public transport I will take Citymapper 

because it is amazing, it has all the features that you described previously, but if I want to use car 

Page 78



 

 

sharing then I have to separately take the Zipcar or the DriveNow or Enterprise apps.  We lose a lot of 

time searching all these different apps to find information, and in the end we do not always have the 

time; therefore, the choices we make are not that well informed.  It is probably time to initiate an 

integrator in the market in order to be able to find all these types of information, and also probably 

the ticketing and payment through one single interface. 

 

Jonn Elledge (Editor, CityMetric):  One thing I feel has not really come out yet is that I feel 

something Citymapper provides very well is what one may term legibility.  It can be very useful in 

terms of getting you around a city where you do not know your way around.  London is pretty legible.  

The Tube map is an obvious example but things like the bus spider maps; if you do not your way 

around London, it is not easy but there is information out there that can help you in a way that is 

often sadly not true in a lot of cities, especially British cities where the bus provision is so fragmented.  

Apps like that can probably be of greatest use elsewhere. 

 

I suspect, within London, it is probably a variant of that.  It is going to spread the load to less familiar 

forms of transport because suddenly you can see that rather than taking the long way around by the 

Tube, you can get a bus or something; I do not know, but I suspect the biggest impact will probably 

be on cities where the transport system is rather less advanced than the one in London. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Just to dig back into the public purpose that we can get from this app 

technology, it was Chris [Lane] who mentioned getting the data back once you have these private app 

providers.  TfL does not have access to that data.  Is that a risk for TfL now in terms of planning for 

future transport need if they do not have that data coming back to them? 

 

Chris Lane (Head of Smart Travel, Transport for the West Midlands):  It is a risk and it is very 

interesting.  Some of these companies might see it as their commercial intellectual property, that 

information they have gained, but at the end of the day, if there is an inefficient part of the transport 

system and you do not know about it, you cannot do anything about it.  That might be best filled with 

a new bus service.  It might be that a company that knows this would fill that with taxis.  You need to 

know about it.  London is such a busy place, such a lot of traffic that you really do need to know that 

information.  Not just London; it needs to be known commonly everywhere. 

 

What you also do not know is -- you do know your public transport trips but what the apps know is 

where somebody started from their home address to their final address and that is also a really critical 

piece of information because you do not know whether it is a good route to get somebody from their 

housing on to the transport network in the first place.  How are they doing that?  Are they doing that 

by taxi; are they walking; are they cycling?  London has been very good at extracting some of this 

information from these companies.  There are some really good relationships built but it is not by right 

that you get that information.  It is almost by persuasion that you work in partnership with these 

companies to get that. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Is that something that TfL should be thinking about, the contracts that they 

make?  They are very good at giving the data.  The reason we have so many good apps, things like 

Citymapper, is because they are good at sharing their data.  Should they be sharing it on different 

terms? 

 

Page 79



 

 

Chris Lane (Head of Smart Travel, Transport for the West Midlands):  That is a reasonable 

request with these organisations.  It is the public sector’s responsibility to provide good, high quality 

data that can be commercialised by the private sector, that the private sector knows about the way 

the transport network is working and that should be optimised for everybody’s benefit.  It is a public 

good for everybody’s benefit.  How that happens in anonymised ways, it is important to capture that 

information. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Thank you. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Sticking with apps, they are fantastic for some things but there have been some 

issues.  Does the experience with apps like oBike and Uber suggest that updates to transport can have 

negative effects on the transport network in some cases?  

 

Chris Lane (Head of Smart Travel, Transport for the West Midlands):  Let us use our friends at 

Uber as a good example.  It is not the app necessarily that is the problem.  I will give you a real Uber 

example from themselves.  When you introduced the Night Tube, it decreased the number of Uber 

journeys in Central London and increased their business on the periphery where those Tubes 

terminated.  Whether or not you are using an app, the quality of your mass transit system is critical 

because people will choose an app if they have not got something good to go to instead.  We need to 

be careful to not just blame the app; that we need to look at what is behind that and why people are 

choosing to use the app, what their motivation is to use an app rather than to use another form of 

transport. 

 

Brian Matthews (Head of Transport Innovation, Milton Keynes Council):  The problem we 

have experienced in our city is the lack of comprehensive data.  As I alluded to, if the data is not there 

that feeds the apps, then they become disreputable and not used.  It comes to the point where they 

are not at all useful and people are turned off and it can have a negative effect.  Having the 

appropriate up-to-date real-time data is crucially important, we feel.  We have deliberately delayed 

the launch of our city mapping app until we have that comprehensive dataset because we feel that we 

have only one chance to launch it.  If we launch it too early, it will not work for people and it will not 

influence behaviour change that we hope it will. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Anyone else like to comment? 

 

Jonn Elledge (Editor, CityMetric):  There is an issue of externalities at times in that my own 

personal experience of Uber often feels like there are so many Ubers on offer in Central London where 

you have many other options, whereas if you are in the suburbs – when in fact it could often be the 

most useful out there - they can be relatively hard to come by and higher in price.  One of the reasons 

the company can get away with that oversupply in the more profitable part of town, it feels to me, is 

that they do not lose anything from that; the risk is on the driver.  I do not instinctively know what the 

solution to that problem is.  oBike, there are similar externality problems there that it does not bother 

them if the bikes pile up in a place and Wandsworth Council, I believe, dealt with it by just taking the 

bikes away.  There are things you can do but it just feels to me, at the moment, like Uber, the 

company, is not necessarily sharing in the downsides from an oversupply of Uber.  I do not know what 

the solution to that is but it does feel like there should be one. 

 

Page 80



 

 

David Kurten AM:  The congestion side of things is something that people bring up as an issue quite 

a lot because there are, in London now, 120,000 private hire drivers approximately which is a huge 

amount, it has more than doubled in the last ten years.  With oBike, people are suggesting there is 

congestion on the pavements.  That is an issue that some people are concerned about as you brought 

up there. 

 

Do any of you have any other ideas how that could be more effectively managed or regulated?  Is it 

possible to do that or is there any way to prevent the congestion issues that people talk about? 

 

Brian Matthews (Head of Transport Innovation, Milton Keynes Council):  The motion map we 

are developing for Milton Keynes is going to be predicated on the real-time information that is 

provided by a city scale network of sensors.  In essence, our app will be driven by the busyness factor 

of all modes.  The sensors will cover buses, cycling, taxis, cars, pedestrians and we will use that 

information in real-time.  The information is refreshed three times a minute to give advice to travellers 

to try to influence their behavioural choice.  We will tell them how busy certain networks, certain 

locations, certain systems are and it is then their choice on how they undertake their journey.  Do they 

undertake it at that time or do they wait for a less busy time because we can predict what will happen 

in the future?  It is very much predicated on real-time live information that is transmitted through a 

city scale sensor network.  Again, that is my point: until we are ready to deploy that sensor, which is 

currently being built out, we are not going to launch our app because of the credibility issues. 

 

Chris Lane (Head of Smart Travel, Transport for the West Midlands):  If I could just come back 

on a certain public transport side, you did some good work during the 2012 Olympics when you 

adjusted travel patterns to meet different demands.  TfL did that through its journey planning app.  

Again, there is this feedback loop with these companies to understand where their customers are and 

where Uber are putting their cars.  At the moment you do not know and, therefore, you cannot have 

that conversation.  Having the data and knowing where these bikes are or these cars are or the shared 

buses are allows you to have that conversation with these companies. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Thank you. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  There is definitely a tension between giving these companies the data and 

getting it back but, if we control it too centrally, could we stifle innovation?  Would that stop the 

companies entering the market and providing something new?  Is there a risk there? 

 

Chris Lane (Head of Smart Travel, Transport for the West Midlands):  What TfL has done is 

enabled innovation by the way it has approached this but that comes with a few consequences which 

is probably where we are today.  It is not unreasonable to know, ask or even require those companies 

to start providing basic information back to the authority because that helps everybody.  If you speak 

to them all individually, they are all saying, “We want to improve general transport because that 

means it is better for our customers”.  If they create congestion, they create slower trips, they have 

less business.  If they have a good functioning London transport network, then everybody wins but, at 

the moment, they, like the public transport industry a few years ago, think there is value in this data 

and they are holding on to it and they are holding tight.  It is not just the likes of Uber.  Google as 

well and people like that have lots of location data.  What is happening to it and why can’t the public 

Page 81



 

 

authority have that in an anonymised form - we do not want to know the individual customers - that 

allows the authority to better plan and better run the whole transport network. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  To me, it does not sound unreasonable at all and it is a shame, when you think 

about that at the front end.  Therefore, we are not where we are because it sounds to me, if you 

compare our situation with Milton Keynes, it sounds like Milton Keynes have more central control and, 

therefore, can manipulate it in ways they want to manipulate it.  Is that something that we would like 

in London and is this a tactic to help that happen? 

 

Chris Lane (Head of Smart Travel, Transport for the West Midlands):  London is in a better 

position because, for the majority of, certainly, public transport, you have control over that.  

Therefore, you have a big proportion of that.  You have a stronger control over the transport network 

and the roads as well.  Outside of London, it is a commercial market, also for public transport, 

therefore, apart from the recent Bus Services Act that gives us some rights, there is not really a right 

to using that information. 

 

You also have a very strong position that these companies want your data and London has got the 

majority of the transport trips in the UK happening in it.  You are in a very strong position to start to 

ask for this information back.  We are probably in a weaker position than you, but we will see what 

you do and probably pinch your good ideas. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Thank you. 

 

Brian Matthews (Head of Transport Innovation, Milton Keynes Council):  Could I just explain 

the Milton Keynes system?  Perhaps I ought to have from the beginning.  We have two parallel data 

hubs created in Milton Keynes; one by the Open University (OU), which is a research unit.  All the 

innovation, activity and testing is developed in an open form to understand the value of the data.  It 

brings all the data together that can be mashed up, in a sense, and have all sorts of purposes. 

 

Parallel to that, we have a large private sector company, BT, which has created a data hub exactly the 

same alongside it and their interest is to commercialise that data for deployment in other areas.  They 

see commercial advantages in developing the systems and ideas in collaboration with a research sector 

and then their commercial model is to then deploy this into other cities of a similar size to 

Milton Keynes and perhaps worldwide. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Is access to that data simple?  If I want to build a Milton Keynes travel app, do I 

have to pay BT? 

 

Brian Matthews (Head of Transport Innovation, Milton Keynes Council):  You would not have 

to pay the OU to experiment and develop your app.  If you wanted then to use it commercially 

through the BT app, their system, then you would.  I think that is the model but the development, the 

incubation of the ideas, the thoughts in developing the apps can be done on their research basis 

through a collaboration of the data created by the OU.  As I say, if that then moves to the commercial 

market, that is when you can choose to go to BT and you can partner with them or you develop the 

app and come and work in the city. 

 

Page 82



 

 

Tom Copley AM:  I have some questions on demand responsive transport.  Perhaps I could start with 

Maria.  What are the potential benefits of demand responsive bus services where services can be 

designed in response to live passenger demand? 

 

Professor Maria Kamargianni (University College London):  With the demand response services, 

we can offer users door-to-door mobility.  As we mentioned before, one of the problems is the last 

mile or the access into the main transport mode.  With all demand services, we can solve this issue and 

offer more flexible travel but with all demand services, we cannot service some areas that do not have 

good accessibility to public transport or there are not a lot of other transport alternatives apart from 

the private car. 

 

It can also reduce the cost of the public transport system.  For example, nowadays, we operate some 

bus lanes to some areas where the demand is not high.  With on-demand systems, we can save this 

money to subsidise the bus route and initiate an on-demand service. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  In that last instance you were talking about, are you saying that you would only 

run these services at certain times - is that what you are saying - to more remote parts of London? 

 

Professor Maria Kamargianni (University College London):  We have taken our service areas 

based on demand.  If you know the time of the demand, you can accordingly programme this service. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  For example, you have Citymapper running a couple of bus services; one in East 

London on Friday and Saturday nights where they have used their data and they have seen that there 

is a gap in the service and they are running that.  What do you think the implications are going to be?  

Are we going to see more of these, do you think?  Are they going to replace some conventional bus 

routes or are they going to supplement the existing bus routes, do you think? 

 

Professor Maria Kamargianni (University College London):  Both can happen.  Some of the 

routes can be supplemented but some of the routes can be replaced because now with the public 

transport system, we have fixed routes and probably the demand is not always the required one in 

order to match with the fixed route. 

 

We are going back to what we were discussing about data.  With the Citymapper bus, it is an example 

of what the companies who own this data can do.  Citymapper, by having all this data about 

Londoners, identified the gaps in the public transport system.  Imagine if they had some agreements 

with not only Citymapper but with all the transport modes available in the city and all the transport 

operators.  They will have amazing data about the demand for all transport modes and the citizens’ 

needs.  It is very important to have a two-way flow of data, therefore, yes, definitely provide the data 

but also for the companies to give back the data and especially the data from on-demand services 

which can provide the public authorities more information about how people move around. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  In terms of the bus routes, the fixed bus routes, quite a few of them have been 

around for decades, if not for centuries, some bus routes and people are very attached to them.  If 

you started to say to people, “We are going to take out your fixed bus service that you know turns up 

at a regular time and replace it with an on-demand service”, particularly people in more remote parts 

of London, do you think that might cause some concern about people who live there, not knowing, 

Page 83



 

 

potentially, because there might be low demand at particular times but someone will still need to get 

somewhere or be used to having a fixed bus service that arrives at a certain time?  Do you think that is 

going to create a problem? 

 

Professor Maria Kamargianni (University College London):  Of course, when someone has to 

change their habits, it is difficult in the beginning and probably they are dissatisfied. However, if you 

offered a service that is equally convenient because they know when the service is coming, they will 

get used to it pretty quickly and there will not be a lot of complaints about this.  We discussed the 

routes where the buses run empty; if there are fixed routes that they do not have, for specific routes, 

they do not have passengers.  With public transport, it takes time to replace this route or to change 

this route.  With on-demand services, it is quicker, it is more fast to show such issues. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Of course we have been looking at the bus network on the Transport Committee 

recently and particularly some of the issues about changing routes around Oxford Street and things 

like that.  

 

Brian Matthews (Head of Transport Innovation, Milton Keynes Council):  I certainly recognise 

your later comments about removing fixed routes because we have struggled in our city in harsh 

financial times that we have had to reduce bus services, especially to our rural communities, and we 

have had some negative feedback on that.  When you perhaps sit back and think about it, what we 

were doing was sending very inefficient buses at infrequent times determined by a budget into a rural 

community that yes, people got used to but the opportunity demand responsive transport offers is 

that we can send more efficient vehicles at the times when people want to travel.  In time, those 

communities will come to recognise, if we get it right, that we are providing a far better, more 

efficient service, that potentially can reduce the need for subsidies in some of those routes.  I 

personally think that demand responsive transport is going to be the big thing coming around the 

corner because of the way we are evolving in our thinking on transport.  What we are looking to do is 

provide the quality of a car and the flexibility of a car in a public transport service vehicle that we can 

offer at the price of a bus or very slightly above the fare, but you are getting better service.  As we 

move to more connective vehicles, better data, better understanding, the intelligence in the vehicle, 

intelligence in the data, and developing a society that is more used to sharing in things they do.  We 

do not buy videos; we share them over the internet.  It is more sharing, it is evolving. 

 

In the shorter term, and again with the prevalence of apps, it is a service provision, there is great 

potential in certain circumstances that on-demand, demand responsive transport could be the answer 

for many areas where fixed routes, mass transits just cannot work. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  What do you think TfL can do to help develop these services? 

 

Brian Matthews (Head of Transport Innovation, Milton Keynes Council):  I do not know TfL 

too well but I can talk about Arriva, our main bus operator in Milton Keynes.  There may be some 

similarities.  It is shifting the thinking of a traditional bus provider/operator away from slavishly 

looking to cut back mass transit routes and look at different models, different provisions; therefore, 

they combine their services, yes, with fixed buses on main routes but demand responsive transport in 

other areas and last-mile solutions in city centres that may be connective pods or whatever.  It is 

about moving away from the traditional model of the provision of buses for a bus operator into 

Page 84



 

 

looking at exploring the new opportunities that are out there to provide public transport away from 

the big vehicle. 

 

Chris Lane (Head of Smart Travel, Transport for the West Midlands):  Just a couple of 

observations.  The first one I would say was you need to be careful of your mass transit network.  

Having lots and lots of dynamic services could start to threaten your mass transit and, as I said, you 

are not building new roads in London.  You have less and less road space.  The real thing, as Brian and 

others have alluded to, is that you need to be careful where these services are because you do not 

want to slow your mass transit down and make that less attractive.  It has to complement what is 

happening there and potentially look at the gaps.  As we have said, you probably have subsidised bus 

services running around with a couple of people on them.  There are companies that would run those 

services for you.  We talked about Uber.  There is Gett Taxi.  There are others that will do ride share 

type services.  Citymapper are doing this; there are other options that are transit.  You can use these 

other modes potentially to do that. 

 

The other tension that we have with these other modes is generally for bus services that the lead time 

to change a bus service is very long, whereas the time to introduce one of these dynamic services is 

very quick.  Certainly, outside of London, and probably inside as well, we need to think about how we 

can allow the traditional call buses to be a bit more dynamic and change as quickly as we need them 

to, rather than that being a very slow process. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Just in relation to older people, we may talk about them more in the 

mobility service, but a lot of older people do not have smartphones or, if they do, they do not know 

how to work them properly.  Even I have to get my younger children to sort things out for me from 

time to time.  How do we accommodate them if they do not have or cannot use a computer and do 

not have an app in this new world where we have demand-led transport? 

 

Chris Lane (Head of Smart Travel, Transport for the West Midlands):  That is a problem and 

that is a challenge.  One of the small ways you can deal with that is you have a successful Oyster card, 

the contactless scheme in London.  You could potentially use that on these other modes of transit as 

well, but that does not help that individual call the transit in the first place.  I do not think there is an 

answer to this at the moment and it is generational in a way is that in ten years’ time, the generation 

we have now, most people do have smartphones but we do need to look at solutions.  Again, in the 

world of accessibility, smartphone solutions are not always that good and so there is still work to do 

on that side of things. 

 

Professor Maria Kamargianni (University College London):  The smartphone concentration in 

London is very high.  Almost nine out of ten adults have a smartphone.  The population of London is 

the youngest in the UK.  There is a part of the population that does not have a smartphone but this is 

only 1% of the population. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  There is a $30 smartphone that is now on sale in Africa.  Therefore, its availability 

is getting more and more for the smartphone.  It may resolve itself. 

 

Mr Lane, could you explain to us, sir, or give us an overview of your Whim project in West Midlands, 

what it is and what you are trying to achieve? 

Page 85



 

 

 

Chris Lane (Head of Smart Travel, Transport for the West Midlands):  We will start off by the 

principle we have given.  First of all, we are looking at mobility as a service, which is Whim effectively.  

We believe that mobility as a service is one of the tools that will help us solve, not all our problems, 

but solve some of our problems in terms of congestion, road use, public transport use.   

 

We started the project with Atkins doing a research piece of work for us, to justify why we would do it 

Whim. We took that through our political committees to get support for that.  Then we decided that 

we would try and do that without any money.  What we said is we would run this commercially, which 

is a little bit different.  Other parts of the country have done that as a paid-for project by the public 

sector but what we wanted to see is could we create a minimum viable product that would either 

prove or disprove mobility as a service?  We think it will work but it has not been done yet.  It is really 

hard to say, is it or is it not going to work?   

 

What we used was our partnership with transport operators, with the private sector, private transport 

providers, with MaaS Global, who are running Whim for us and effectively, we built a partnership.  We 

are there as the facilitator.  We have spent no money on this apart from buying a few cups of coffee 

and facilitated some meetings in our offices.  It is being run as a commercial solution.  It is fair to say 

not everybody who has done that in other countries are looking at having a completely controlled 

solution.   

 

Where we are with the project now is we are currently doing live trials in the West Midlands.  We have 

people out there using the app.  We have currently bus, tram, taxi and a car hire and we are close to 

having sign feed and train built into the app within the next month or so.  What we will then do is 

once we are confident that the app does what it says, we will put that into real live paying customers’ 

hands and we will see how that works. 

 

We will share the information - this is back to this data from MaaS Global - to understand if it is 

having a positive impact on the West Midlands and the West Midlands transport network or if there 

are some unintended consequences, in which case, we might need to do something.  We genuinely 

want to do this with them. 

 

The difference between the West Midlands and London is there would be nothing stopping 

MaaS Global just turning up in the West Midlands and doing this now.  As far as legislation is 

concerned, they could just come and make those partnerships and run that.  We felt that we wanted 

to be around the table with them, understanding that and understanding whether that works.  That is 

where we are with the project and we have customers out there now using that service. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  I have been trying to look in to see what the app is.  Is it fair to say that it is like 

Citymapper but that you can pay for the entire journey using that app, which you cannot do in 

Citymapper? 

 

Chris Lane (Head of Smart Travel, Transport for the West Midlands):  Yes, that is correct.  For 

our pilot, for our initial implementation, we will probably do that as pay-as-you-go.  If you think about 

it more as a mobile phone tariff, we will probably set that up as a pay-as-you-go service.  You buy a 

certain amount of transit which is public and private transport.  The view would be that people will 

Page 86



 

 

move to a subscription model and just as you do with your phone, you pay a monthly fee.  

MaaS Global Helsinki’s learning was that people were not sure to start with.  It is the same with mobile 

phones.  They like to try the service first.  They like to build up a bit of confidence before they were 

prepared to put their monthly commute fee, if you like, within the app.  We will probably take the 

same approach.  We will start off as pay-as-you-go and then we will move to a subscription model.  

That model will be the commercial choice of MaaS Global and they will need to continue to attract 

customers through their app to do that. 

 

The app works by purely mobile ticketing and so it is all visual.  Everything is done from your 

smartphone.  You buy your travel, you book your travel and you see what has happened; it is all done 

through the phone itself. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  What is to prevent the app suggesting journeys that were beneficial to the 

provider and not necessarily the consumer? 

 

Chris Lane (Head of Smart Travel, Transport for the West Midlands):  There is nothing 

stopping them doing that.  We view it as just like a normal app.  If that app works for you and it is 

beneficial to you, you will keep it.  If it is not, you will probably unload it.  What we are saying is that 

it is a commercial market.  What is stopping a phone provider selling you a service that is beneficial to 

them rather than to you?  If you are on one of those services and you find that out, you will probably 

change provider.  What we are saying within the West Midlands is, whilst MaaS Global are the first 

provider, we do not see them as the only provider.  We would be happy to talk to other mobility 

service providers. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  That is reassuring.  The one thing that came from me looking at this was I am a 

bit concerned if effectively a public authority is getting in with the monopoly provider. 

 

Chris Lane (Head of Smart Travel, Transport for the West Midlands):  Absolutely. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  You are going to welcome competitors to this? 

 

Chris Lane (Head of Smart Travel, Transport for the West Midlands):  Yes, around the table, 

we have a competitor from the car sector who might run a mobility as a service but quite different to 

the MaaS Global one.  At the moment, they do not want to be mentioned in terms of name. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  You are going to be doing the monitoring which is one of the other questions I 

wanted to ask you.  How well do you think you will judge it if it is a success? 

 

Chris Lane (Head of Smart Travel, Transport for the West Midlands):  It is great that we have 

Maria here because we have been talking to Maria and UCL and Transport Systems Catapult about the 

research UCL have already done on mobility service, which is excellent.  There is good work in London.  

We have also talked about we might understand the impact of mobility as a service in the West 

Midlands.  Again, we are working with the Catapult to seek some funding and some resources to do 

quite a sophisticated piece of research on, not just the West Midlands, but further afield on how it 

would work elsewhere. 

 

Page 87



 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  Can anybody sign up to it at the moment?  I note online you can.   

 

Chris Lane (Head of Smart Travel, Transport for the West Midlands):  There is a lot of interest 

online but nobody has signed up to use the service commercially yet.  That is our October launch 

effectively, therefore, what we will be doing is attracting customers in October to pay for the service. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  We will certainly keep an eye on that.  Thank you very much. 

 

Chris Lane (Head of Smart Travel, Transport for the West Midlands):  We are talking with the 

guys at TfL anyway on progress and where we are getting with that. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  You are associating yourself with this app, quite 

rightly, but you are public sector.  If this app was doing the things that Assembly Member Boff is 

talking about in terms of encouraging you perhaps to use a taxi or a private hire for a bit of a journey, 

that seems like some sort of commercial interest rather than actually it is a five-minute walk. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  It is like Citymapper encourages you to use Uber. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  I do not look at it, to be honest.  Nobody has ever 

encouraged me to use Uber but as you are associated with this and endorsing it, is there potentially a 

conflict then?  How are you protecting that because a lot of people put trust in a public authority 

linked and protected? 

 

Chris Lane (Head of Smart Travel, Transport for the West Midlands):  Yes.  That is why we 

wanted to sit around the table with them and why they have agreed to share the data with us, so we 

will understand what they are doing and what they are saying.  As we have got so far, all the 

discussions are that they are supportive of sustainable travel, so they support our core objectives.  

Their business model also supports that because the more times you can get somebody on a bus 

rather than in a taxi or a hire car, the better it is for them as well.  At the moment, that is the support.  

If we find that there are unintended consequences, then we might need to take action to mitigate 

against those but, at the moment, we are trying to do that in partnership, trying to do that in as open 

a way as we possibly can. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Lovely, thank you. 

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  I just wanted to talk about Mobility As a Service in London.  What do you 

think are the barriers of bringing this sort of service to London? 

 

Chris Lane (Head of Smart Travel, Transport for the West Midlands):  London is in an excellent 

and also the most difficult position.  In a way, from a public transport point of view, you have got 

strong control of that but the challenge then is what do you do about these other modes?  What do 

you do about taxis?  What do you do about this?  It is a real challenge for you to decide; do you try 

and regulate it in some way to have those as part of the app or do you let the market take its own 

decision?  I suspect, with London, you cannot let the market take its own decision because you have 

such a sensitive network that if unintended things happen, it is going to cause you congestion, that 

would just cause problems.  London needs to decide how you want to enter this particular market and 

Page 88



 

 

whether you control that through the TfL payment infrastructure, the work that you have done with 

Oyster and now the contactless and whether you use that as almost a clearing house for any mobility 

service provider that wants to come in. 

 

Going back to the original point that Maria [Kamargianni] backed up is that the data is really 

important.  What these companies are doing and how they are impacting the London transport 

network is really critical for you.  I could safely say these companies want to come and work in 

London.  We spoke to MaaS Global.  They would dearly love to have a Whim app running today in 

London.  The interest is there and they definitely would like to work in London but they might need 

to work a little bit differently with yourselves than they would with us. 

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  Thank you.  How difficult is it to bring together?  Do you have any planning, 

a booking payment into one app? 

 

Chris Lane (Head of Smart Travel, Transport for the West Midlands):  They have done that.  

That is live now.  They built that in Helsinki.  They basically adopted the Helsinki work in the West 

Midlands.  I have an app today that you can see that will plan your journey.  It will give you a choice, 

whether you want to use public transport.  If you are in a hurry, it will put you in a taxi.  The train is in 

there as well or you can walk.  All of that is paid for within the app or if you know you want to do a 

specific thing, if you know you want a taxi or you know you want a particular type of ticket, you can 

go straight to that and buy that.  They have done that work already but they are using this data that 

we talked about right at the start.  It is this data that comes from the public sector in the first place, 

this quality data.  Without those types of services, they could not, they would not have an app.  They 

would not have anything to run. 

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  Do you think this would increase the demand or decrease demand on public 

transport use? 

 

Chris Lane (Head of Smart Travel, Transport for the West Midlands):  Maria might be better to 

explain this than me but our initial discussions with MaaS Global is that through the app, they have 

seen increased active travel and increased use in Helsinki in Finland.  We are expecting to see more 

use of public transport.  Our private transport operators believe these are new customers which is why 

they are participating.  They believe that this is not just shuffling people around what we have already 

got, they genuinely believe they are new customers.  MaaS Global want to get people out of their 

cars.  They want you not to buy a new car.  They want you to spend that money on the app and not 

to have a car.  That is their ethos, if you like, and if they can achieve that even in a small fraction of 

people, they have done a pretty good job. 

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  Maria, did you want to say anything on this? 

 

Professor Maria Kamargianni (University College London):  Yes.  We recently published a 

survey about the impact of mobility as a service for London and also Londoners had different 

perceptions towards car-ownership and mobility as a service.  The results indicated that when you 

have access to all the transport modes, there are higher possibilities to use public transport modes.  

Then also, some modes that you have not thought before to use like bike saving.  This mobility as a 

service app or system could be used as a demand management tool.  You can give access to users to 

Page 89



 

 

all the transport modes available in the city and they can access this transport mode without the need 

to have a different account or to have a different payment method.  I can send you this report later. 

 

We have identified that there is a shift from private cars to public transport.  There is also a shift from 

private cars to taxis and all these ride-hailing services.  There is also a small shift from public transport 

users to ride-hailing services but, on average, when you put everything together, there is an increase 

in public transport demand. 

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  Thank you.  If that report is available, if you send it to the Chairman, it would 

be very helpful. 

 

Professor Maria Kamargianni (University College London):  Yes, I will send it.  One more thing.  

In 2015, we did the feasibility study for mobility as a service, for London.  We investigated both the 

supply side and the demand side because if the infrastructure is not there, or the data is not available, 

this concept will not work.  In London, and especially in zones one, two and three, we have several 

transport modes, the one next to others.  Someone can have easy access to more than one transport 

mode.  Since we have infrastructure there, it is very easy to initiate such a system for London. 

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  Thank you for that.  What do you think the impact would be on the type of 

fares of the system if this system was available?  What do you think the impact would be on the 

transport fares? 

 

Professor Maria Kamargianni (University College London):  These are now marketing 

techniques.  When you bundle your different services together, you can have discounts.  Users can 

save money.  On the other hand, because I assume you care more about the income of public 

transport users and the fare of the public transport system, when you bundle the services and you 

offer a monthly mobility package, the mass [transit] operator sells to the user a monthly pass for 

public transport modes.  Either the user will not use the public transport or he will use the public 

transport, the public transport authority is going to be paid for this monthly pass.  Nothing changes 

with the fares.  In case the demand for some transport modes increase, then you can have agreements 

on getting better prices based on the demand for capacity to sell. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Thank you very much.  Thank you very much indeed for your time.  

We are very grateful to you.  We have made some notes and Maria can pass that information forward.  

That will be useful as well. 

 

Professor Maria Kamargianni (University College London):  The feasibility report certifies that.  

There are also some insights about how to integrate, how to make the vehicles, and how mobility as a 

service can pave the way to how to make the vehicles safe. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Thank you.  Once again, thank you very much for your time.   

 

Page 90



 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Summary List of Actions  

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat  
 

Date: 10 October 2017 

 
This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This report sets out the actions arising from previous meetings of the Transport Committee. 

 
 
2. Recommendation  
 

2.1 That the Committee notes the completed and outstanding actions arising from previous 

meetings of the Committee. 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 12 September 2017  

Item Topic Status For Action by 

8. 

 

 

 

 

10. 

 

 

 

 

 

11. 

Outer London Junctions 

That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in 

consultation with the Deputy Chair and party Group 

Lead Members, to agree the final report of the Outer 

London Junctions rapporteurship. 

 

Work Programme 

That a visit to a National Rail station to consider 

accessibility issues for disabled people be agreed and 

that authority be delegated to the Chairman, in 

consultation with the Deputy Chair and party Group 

Lead Members, to agree the details of the visit 

 

Future Transport 

Professor Maria Kamargianni, UCL, agreed to provide 

the Committee with the survey undertaken by UCL on 

mobility as a service for London. 

 

Ongoing 

 

 

 

 

Ongoing 

 

 

 

 

 

Ongoing 

 

 

 

 

Scrutiny 

Manager 

 

 

 

Scrutiny 

Manager 

 

 

 

 

 
Professor Maria 
Kamargianni, 
UCL 

 

 

Page 91

Agenda Item 4



        

Item Topic Status For Action by 

That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in 

consultation with the Deputy Chair and party Group 

Lead Members, to agree any related site visits. 

 

Ongoing 

 

Scrutiny 

Manager 

 

 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 18 July 2017  

Item Topic Status For Action by 

4. Mayor’s Transport Strategy 

During the course of the discussion, the Transport 

Commissioner agreed to provide the following: 

 The feasibility study considering the potential need 

and impact of congestion charging for private hire 

vehicles; 

 Supporting information and evidence which has 

been published alongside the Transport Strategy, 

notably data on numbers and types of vehicles on 

the road network; and 

 Details of TfL’s response to the Chris Gibb report 

on the Southern Rail Network and TfL’s response 

to the South Eastern trains consultation by Geoff 

Hobbs, Head of Transport Planning, Transport for 

London. 

Ongoing 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Transport 

Commissioner  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 14 June 2017  

Item Topic Status For Action by 

12. Transport Committee Work Programme 2017/18 

That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in 

consultation with the Deputy Chair and party Group 

Lead Members, to respond to the Mayor’s draft 

Transport Strategy on behalf of the Committee. 

Completed. See 

Agenda Item 5. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3. Legal Implications  
 
3.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 
  

 

Page 92



        

4. Financial Implications 
 

4.1 There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  

None 
 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: MDA 829 

 

Contact Officer:  Laura Pelling, Principal Committee Manager 

Telephone:  020 7983 5526 

E-mail:   laura.pelling@london.gov.uk   

 

Page 93

mailto:laura.pelling@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 94



 

                                                                    
 

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Transport Committee Response to the 
draft Mayor’s Transport Strategy  

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 10 October 2017 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This report sets out the Committee’s response to the consultation on the draft Mayor’s Transport 

Strategy (MTS) as agreed by the Chairman, under delegated authority, in consultation with the 

Deputy Chair and party Group Lead Members. 

 

 

2. Recommendation 

 
2.1 That the Committee notes its submission to the consultation on the draft Mayor’s 

Transport Strategy as agreed under delegated authority. 

 

 

3. Background  
 

3.1  The Mayor launched his draft Transport Strategy in June 2017, with the consultation process ending 

on 2 October 2017. 

3.2 The Transport Committee discussed the draft MTS at its meetings on 12 July and 18 July 2017. A 

further informal meeting was held with the Deputy Mayor for Transport on 24 August 2017. 

 

4. Issues for Consideration  

 
4.1 The Committee has submitted a response to the consultation, which is attached in Appendix 1. This 

was agreed under delegated authority by the Chairman in consultation with the Deputy Chair and 

party Group Lead Members. 

4.2 Key points made in the Committee’s response include: 

 The Mayor should set mode share targets for walking and cycling, and include more ambitious 
targets for reducing collisions; 

Page 95

Agenda Item 5



        

 The strategy needs to set out more detailed plans for re-shaping the bus network, particularly to 
redistribute bus service capacity to outer London; 

 The strategy should include proposals for integrating door-to-door services, with Transport for 
London setting out a timed action plan; 

 The Mayor needs to clarify how he will fund Crossrail 2, following the recent announcement 
made of the Government’s support for the scheme; and 

 The strategy should be more ambitious on delivering step-free station upgrades, and reinvest 
any savings that are made by delivering upgrades more efficiently. 
 

4.3 Caroline Russell AM and David Kurten AM have included dissenting opinions on cycling 

infrastructure in the submission. These can be found in notes 3 and 4 of the submission. 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 
 

 

List of appendices to this report: 

Appendix 1 – Committee’s response to the draft Mayor’s Transport Strategy consultation 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: MDA 829 

 

Contact Officer: Richard Berry, Scrutiny Manager  

Telephone: 020 7983 4000 

E-mail: scrutiny@london.gov.uk   

 

Page 96

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


 
 

Keith Prince AM, Chairman of the Transport Committee 
 

London Assembly 
City Hall 

The Queen’s Walk 
London SE1 2AA 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dear Sadiq, 
 
I am writing to share the views of the Transport Committee on your draft Mayor’s Transport 
Strategy (MTS). 
 
We welcome the publication of your draft strategy, and would like to thank the Deputy Mayor for 
Transport Val Shawcross, Walking and Cycling Commissioner Will Norman, TfL Commissioner 
Mike Brown and Director of City Planning Alex Williams for engaging with us during the 
consultation period. As you know, we would have appreciated the opportunity to meet you 
directly to discuss the strategy. The committee remains disappointed that Londoners have been 
denied the chance to see you questioned publicly about your proposals. 
 
We share your views on the major challenges facing London’s transport network. London needs 
to deliver healthier streets with enhanced opportunities for active travel, to improve the 
experience of travelling by public transport, and to make effective use of the transport network 
to help create homes and jobs. 
 
We note the ambitious target you have set for 80 per cent of journeys made in London to be by 
foot, cycle or public transport by 2041. We agree this is an important objective for the city, 
although we would also recommend that as well as the overall 80 per cent target, you publish 
your mode share targets for walking, cycling and specific public transport services, and your 
intermediate targets for mode share between now and 2041. 
 
Achieving this objective will be challenging, and require sustained investment in a number of 
areas. In particular, if Londoners are to be persuaded to reduce private car usage, it is vital that 
effective alternatives are in place throughout the city, especially in outer London. Our general 
impression of the strategy is that much more detail on your proposals is required to assure us this 
will be the case.  
 
In this letter, I will set out our views on specific proposals in the draft strategy, particularly where 
we feel you may need to make changes to your proposals or include additional measures. 

29 September 2017 

Sadiq Khan 
Mayor of London 
City Hall 
The Queen’s Walk 
London SE1 2AA 

 Appendix 1 

Page 97



 
 

 
 

Walking 
 
We welcome your target for all Londoners to undertake at least 20 minutes of active travel every 
day. For most Londoners this would be achieved by walking. We support the measures in the 
draft MTS to promote walking by improving the street environment (proposal 1), provided each 
intervention is considered on a case-by-case basis. Going forward, you should provide more detail 
on what constitutes a ‘healthy route’ for walking, how many routes you expect to introduce, and 
by when. German Dector-Vega from Sustrans shared views with us on some of the details that 
need to be clarified: 
 

“We are not talking about throughput anymore and we need to talk about walking as a mass 
mover because it is a mass mover. It needs to be direct, efficient, inviting, safe and accessible. I 
would prioritise the safe and the accessible. You can have a beautiful, very inviting route but if you 
cannot cross to it, then that is it; it is pointless. The safe and accessible is super-important and the 
key thing is the junction and the key thing that is blocking the junction design is the prioritisation 
of traffic, unfortunately, which is still there.”1 

 
The landmark walking proposal of your election manifesto was the pedestrianisation of Oxford 
Street. We recently responded to TfL’s latest consultation on this topic.2 As set out there, we 
welcome the recent move to reduce the number of buses running along Oxford Street. We note, 
however, that in the draft MTS you have failed to include any details on what the 
‘transformation’ of Oxford Street will involve (proposal 2). While we appreciate the complexity of 
this issue, it is time now for you to be clear about your vision. Working with Westminster Council, 
you should come forward with specific proposals for consultation as soon as possible. 
 
Cycling 
 
We support your objective for 70 per cent of Londoners to live within 400 metres of a safe, high-
quality cycle route (proposal 3). We would point out, however, that proximity to a cycle route will 
not necessarily lead to people taking up cycling while other barriers persist. We would urge you 
to improve the way Londoners are consulted about new cycling infrastructure. 
 
A weakness of your draft MTS with regards to cycling measures is the lack of clarity about what 
new cycling infrastructure you want to introduce over the period of this strategy. We will be 
investigating this topic in more depth in 2018 and will share our findings with you in due course. 
Segregated Cycle Superhighways and Quietways both have their place on London’s roads, 
perhaps in modified forms as we learn more about how this infrastructure is used.34 Beyond the 
immediate plans set out in TfL’s latest Business Plan, however, it is not clear what your vision is 
for London’s cycling infrastructure. For instance, you could set out what types of infrastructure 
will encourage take-up among those not currently cycling. As Nicole Badstuber of University 
College London told us: 
 

                                                 
1
 Transport Committee meeting, 12 July 2017. 

2
 https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s65239/Appendix%202%20-%20Oxford%20St.pdf  

3
 David Kurten AM of UKIP recommends that new cycling routes should not narrow road space for other vehicles, 

particularly buses, on the basis that this would increase traffic congestion. 
4
 The view of Caroline Russell AM of the Green Party Group is that cycling infrastructure such as segregated Cycle 

Superhighways has proven to be effective at improving safety for cyclists and allowing more efficient use of road 
space. The Mayor and TfL’s priority should be to continue with their plans to roll out further infrastructure upgrades.  

Page 98

https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s65239/Appendix%202%20-%20Oxford%20St.pdf


 
 

 
 

“If you look at the Cycle Superhighways, they are often very radial and they are also, once again, 
trying to bring people in within half an hour from inner London into the city. If we want to 
encourage a broader section of society to cycle, then we also need to think about what sort of travel 
they are looking for and where they are travelling and so trying to build more of a comprehensive 
network which also caters to maybe women or other communities […] I wanted to point out that we 
really need to create a network that is not disjointed and that does not have junctions suddenly that 
are unsafe and put people off because of that.” 

 
The draft MTS discusses your support for future models of cycle hire (proposal 6). We agree that 
‘dockless’ cycle hire schemes have the potential to open up opportunities for people to cycle, 
especially in those areas not covered by TfL’s Cycle Hire scheme, provided the right infrastructure 
is available to support them. We heard from Stephen Joseph of the Campaign for Better 
Transport about good practice in Birmingham: 
 

“There is a project called the Big Birmingham Bikes project, which is non-dock bike hire, basically.  
They have distributed bikes with global positioning system (GPS) trackers to people all over south 
Birmingham and have been incredibly successful in getting low-income people, Asian people and 
women on bikes across south Birmingham.” 

 
Recent experience with dockless cycle hire in London shows that these services must be carefully 
managed to avoid causing disruption to other road users, including pedestrians and other cyclists. 
Working with London boroughs is vital – in particular there must be clear agreement about where 
dockless bikes can be left. We will be examining this in our future transport investigation, and will 
look to make recommendations in our report in early 2018.5 
 
The draft MTS states that you will explore options for including e-bikes in TfL’s Cycle Hire scheme, 
although we understand from our meeting with Will Norman that this has in fact been ruled out 
for the time being.6 We believe that making e-bikes more available could help increase cycling 
take-up, and look forward to seeing further details of the trials that Mr Norman discussed in our 
meeting. 
 
Road safety 
 
We welcome the commitment to Vision Zero in the draft MTS, with a target to reduce the 
number of people killed or seriously injured (KSI) on or by a London bus by 70 per cent by 2022, 
and to zero by 2030 (proposal 10). It is not clear, however, why other modes have a Vision Zero 
timeframe of 2041; it seems more appropriate to state that you will aim to eliminate all KSIs by 
2030. In particular, as well as bus safety, you should have specific targets for increasing walking 
and cycling safety in the same timeframes. 
 
It is also important to remember, of course, that Vision Zero is not merely a target for KSI 
reduction; it should be considered a guiding principle for transport planning, under which any 
fatal or serious injury is considered an unacceptable outcome and all necessary measures taken 
to avoid it.  
 

                                                 
5
 https://www.london.gov.uk/current-investigations/future-transport  

6
 Transport Committee meeting, 18 July 2017 

Page 99

https://www.london.gov.uk/current-investigations/future-transport


 
 

 
 

As you will be aware, we recently published a report on bus safety, Driven to Distraction.7 
Implementing the measures we recommended in our report should be a priority, and will help to 
ensure that you achieve your new targets. In summary, our recommendations included the 
following: 
 

- TfL should set safety targets for bus operators, as well as reliability targets. 

- Performance-related payments for senior TfL staff should be linked to bus safety targets. 

- TfL should review bus driver working conditions, and work with operators to reduce the 
number of distractions drivers face. 

- TfL should take direct responsibility for bus safety training, as it has for customer service 
training. 

- TfL should review how bus incidents are investigated in London, considering how to 
ensure independence and consistency. 

 
We are pleased to see that the draft strategy includes plans to improve motorcycle safety, an 
issue which has previously been overlooked to some extent (proposal 11). The Transport 
Committee published a report on this topic in 2016, Easy Rider, shortly before you took office. 
We support the proposals you have made to raise training standards, press for consistency in bus 
lane access and to accredit courier businesses – we look forward to further details of this work. 
We will be following up our report at a meeting with TfL and other stakeholders in November. In 
the meantime, we would urge you to update the Motorcycle Safety Action Plan, which is now 
outdated and does not reflect these latest initiatives. 
 
Bus network 
 
We are disappointed that your draft strategy does not provide more detail on how you will 
re-shape London’s bus network (proposal 53). Since your early days in office there have been 
hints that TfL will undertake a major review of the bus network, but this has not taken place 
despite falling passenger numbers giving you a clear indication that change is needed. As 
discussed above, we welcome TfL’s changes to bus routes along Oxford Street, but this must be 
the start of a process, not the end. Nicole Badstuber of University College London told us you 
need to take bold actions: 
 

“If the Mayor was really serious about wanting to realise the shift that is mapped out with his 

intentions in the Transport Strategy, he really needs to improve the attractiveness of in particular 

the bus network. There is mention of, for instance, extending the bus priority lanes and maybe 

putting some in where, after review, it was highlighted that there was a need for it, but you need a 

bit more bold action here. Yes, we need to create a bus priority network so that there are not pinch-

points at which buses are still stuck and you have a lot of bus bunching, which also impacts on the 

reliability of the service provided and the travel times.”   

 

                                                 
7
 https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/driven-distraction-tackling-

safety-londons  

Page 100

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/driven-distraction-tackling-safety-londons
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/driven-distraction-tackling-safety-londons


 
 

 
 

We investigated this topic in 2016-17. In our recent report, London’s bus network, we discussed 
how TfL could improve the design of the bus network and deliver increased usage.8 Our proposed 
action plan included the following key points: 
 

- TfL should redistribute bus service capacity from central to outer London. This is necessary 
to enable the reduction in car usage that is vital for your mode share target. In your final 
MTS you should specify how much capacity will be redistributed to outer London, and 
over what period, and confirm plans to introduce more orbital routes. 

- TfL should move towards a more efficient network design based on the feeder/trunk 
model. This would involve shorter, local bus routes connecting people to high-capacity, 
express services on major corridors. 

- TfL should reform the bus tendering process. The current system is a barrier to delivering 
a new approach to buses. This could involve multi-route tenders covering all services on a 
particular corridor. 

- TfL should improve the bus experience to attract new passengers. This should include 
providing wi-fi on board buses, improving passenger information and making interchange 
between buses easier. 

 
The draft MTS also discusses demand-responsive bus services, which would have flexible routes 
designed in response to real-time passenger demand (proposal 87). We understand several firms 
are preparing to introduce these in London. We support the proposal to explore the potential of 
these services, as they could contribute to the necessary increase in service capacity in under-
served areas. We will be considering this topic further in our ongoing investigation into future 
transport technology. 
 
Traffic congestion 
 
Traffic congestion is increasing across London, as we found in our recent investigation of this 
topic. In our report, London Stalling, we recommended that you should:9 

- Reform the Congestion Charge to target congestion more effectively, and develop 
proposals for a wider road pricing scheme that could integrate all existing road charges. 

- Support boroughs developing proposals for workplace parking levies. 

- Encourage more delivery consolidation and reduce restrictions on night-time delivery. 

- Pilot a ban on personal deliveries to staff on TfL premises, and modify TfL’s approach to 
‘click and collect’ at tube stations to include a greater number of retailers. 

- Assess the congestion impact of your proposals to allow TfL to cap the number of private 
hire licenses it issues. 

- Conduct analysis of the congestion impact of TfL’s Road and Transport Enforcement 
Team. 

                                                 
8
 https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/londons-bus-network  

9
 https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/london-stalling-reducing-

traffic-congestion. David Kurten AM of UKIP dissented to recommendations on the Congestion Charge, road pricing, 
workplace parking levies and the Road Modernisation Plan. Steve O’Connell AM of the GLA Conservatives dissented 
to the recommendation on road pricing. Details are available on our website. 

Page 101

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/londons-bus-network
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/london-stalling-reducing-traffic-congestion
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/london-stalling-reducing-traffic-congestion


 
 

 
 

- Conduct analysis of the Lane Rental and London Permit schemes for roadworks. 

- Undertake more effective planning of Road Modernisation Plan schemes in order to 
minimise the congestion impact during construction. 

- Conduct analysis of the pilot scheme displaying traffic notices on buses. 
 
In the Memorandum of Understanding on devolution you agreed with the Government and 
London Councils in March 2017, it is stated that: 
 

The GLA will commission an independent study that will work with TfL to identify the key causes of 
increased road congestion in central London over the last 5 years, with a particular focus on 
bottlenecks, and will identify a set of prioritised actions that will improve journey times. 

 
We understand that the independent congestion study will be concluded before the end of 2017. 
The final version of your strategy should reflect the findings of the study, which should be 
published. 
 
Freight 
 
We welcome the focus on reducing freight traffic in the draft MTS (proposal 15). We support your 
ambition to ensure all of London is within a 30-minute drive of a construction consolidation 
centre. This will be difficult to achieve, however, so it is vital that TfL is prepared to play an active 
role in bringing organisations together to ensure new centres are established. As we heard from 
Richard Dilks of London First: 
 

“There are welcome ambitions in here about consolidation centres and about measures that are 

going to help freight reduction. Actually achieving those is difficult going. It is a difficult 

co-ordination piece and there is a very live question for the Mayor, the Greater London Authority 

and TfL as to what sort of role they take on this. How interventionist do they get? Do they put real 

money into this? Are they striking bigger and bolder partnerships with other players to achieve 

consolidation and freight efficiency? It does need a guiding mind–freight–which it broadly lacks at 

the moment.” 

 
Personal deliveries also cause an increasing amount of freight traffic. We understand that TfL has 
banned staff from receiving personal deliveries at work, something that should be considered 
across the GLA Group. TfL should take the opportunity to quantify the impact of this new policy, 
and share the evidence with businesses in order to promote a reduction in delivery traffic. TfL 
should also use its estate more effectively to enable ‘click and collect’ services at Tube, rail and 
bus stations, potentially removing the last mile out of many freight journeys. 
 
We note that the draft MTS does not discuss drones and droids, as a method of making personal 
deliveries that could help take traffic of the roads. Although the scale of this opportunity is not 
yet proven and there are barriers to drone deliveries in built-up areas, it is important that you 
explore the potential congestion impact of this technology. We will be considering this topic 
further in our future transport investigation. 
 
 
 
 

Page 102



 
 

 
 

Road charges 
 
You pledged in your manifesto not to increase the level of the Congestion Charge, and we accept 
it is important to keep this promise to Londoners (proposal 18). London led the world in the 
introduction of the Congestion Charge, and for a decade it had the effect of minimising traffic in 
central London and allowing road space to be used for sustainable modes. With the recent 
increase in congestion, its usefulness appears to be waning. The main weakness of the 
Congestion Charge is that it charges a flat rate to all drivers entering the zone, creating a perverse 
incentive for people to drive more once they have paid. We do not propose specific changes here 
but we would support a review of the pricing structure of the Congestion Charge, in particular to 
consider differential charging for peak and off-peak driving. 
 
Regarding the potential introduction of a wider road pricing scheme, we note that you will not 
bring forward road pricing proposals in this term (proposal 19). We recognise this is a 
controversial topic and views differ on the committee about whether to implement road pricing. 
If you are considering introducing road pricing after 2020, then proposals should be developed 
and published during this Mayoral term in order to allow Londoners to consider the plans. 
Preparatory work by TfL should consider the potential congestion impact, cost and civil liberties 
implications of road pricing. 
 
There is a range of views on the committee regarding your proposals for the Silvertown Tunnel 
(proposal 88). A majority of Members are broadly supportive of the construction of the tunnel as 
one way of improving cross-river connectivity in east London. Liberal Democrat and Green 
Members do not support the construction of Silvertown Tunnel. Views differ across the 
committee on how the scheme should be funded. In general, Members believe it is important 
that if you proceed with proposals to toll the Silvertown and Blackwall tunnels, you should take 
steps to avoid an increase in congestion at other crossings, such as the Rotherhithe tunnel. 
 
Car clubs 
 
We support the expansion of car clubs in London (proposal 17). Car clubs could be particularly 
beneficial to your modal shift objective if they are expanded in outer London—alongside other 
measures like an increase in bus capacity—where coverage is relatively sparse. Clearly, some 
private parking provision would need to be dedicated to car clubs in order to allow this to 
happen, and on-street charging points would be needed to enable car club fleets to go electric. 
TfL should work with boroughs to determine how to achieve the best solutions for each locality. 
 
Accessibility 
 
We welcome TfL’s ongoing commitment to deliver step-free stations (proposal 52). We believe 
your plans could be more ambitious, however. We have noted from our discussions during the 
consultation period that TfL is seeking to implement station upgrades more cost-effectively than 
previously. If this is achieved, the savings should be re-invested in the upgrade programme so 
more stations can be made step-free. It is also vital that TfL invests in the maintenance of station 
facilities such as lifts and escalators. As we heard from Faryal Velmi of Transport for All: 
 

“We like the fact that we have heard [the Deputy Mayor for Transport] talk about the use of 
perhaps a different way of looking at how stations can be made step-free, not to do it on the cheap 
but look at more cost-effective ways. That is really important. Supplementing that as well, we need 

Page 103



 
 

 
 

to look at how quickly lifts and escalators are maintained because there is nothing more frustrating 
than having had the investment in a Tube station to get the lifts, to get it accessible and then the lift 
is out for months.” 

 
Improved accessibility for passengers with a sensory impairment is equally important. The 
Transport Committee published a report, Leading the way, on this topic in early 2016, and we 
urge you to consider our recommendations.10 Most importantly, we would stress that 
accessibility for those with a sensory impairment depends on the provision of staff who are well-
trained, visible and available to help, across the transport network. 
 
Door-to-door services 
 
There is a short discussion in the draft MTS on door-to-door transport services, but no specific 
proposals for what you will do to improve them. We find this both surprising and concerning, as 
there is a clear need for improvement in these services and a strong consensus developed over 
many years on the steps that need to be taken. As we recommended in our recent report, Door-
to-door transport in London: Delivering a user-led service, integrating services such as Dial-a-Ride, 
Capital Call and Taxicard should be a priority for TfL and its partners.11  
 
We welcome TfL’s response to our report and the decision to explore a pilot programme 
combining Taxicard and Capital Call in two boroughs. However, we fail to see any meaningful 
progress toward integration of the journey booking process, for instance, or a commitment from 
TfL to deliver this. We appreciate that TfL Board member Anne McMeel is now leading on this 
issue for TfL, and urge you to come forward as soon as possible with a renewed plan for 
integration with specific, timed actions. 
 
Private hire services 
 
There are a range of views on the committee about your proposals for private hire services, 
reflecting the challenge of balancing consumer choice with the need to tackle congestion in 
London. A majority of Members support your proposal to lobby for a cap on the number of 
private hire licenses that can be issued in London and a ban on cross-border hiring (proposal 73). 
There is a range of views among Members on the possible removal the private hire exemption 
from the Congestion Charge. Liberal Democrat, Green and UKIP Members support this proposal. 
The Labour Group would support a review into the proposal. The GLA Conservative Group 
opposes a private hire cap and the removal of the exemption. 
 
We are unanimous in urging you to implement the recommendation from our congestion report, 
to publish an analysis of the congestion impact of the proposed cap. You should also publish your 
feasibility study into the removal of the Congestion Charge exemption. These steps are necessary 
in order for an informed debate to take place about these measures. 
 
 
 
 

                                                 
10

 https://www.london.gov.uk/assembly-publications/leading-way-travelling-sensory-impairment-london  
11

 https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/door-door-transport-
london-delivering-user-led  

Page 104

https://www.london.gov.uk/assembly-publications/leading-way-travelling-sensory-impairment-london
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/door-door-transport-london-delivering-user-led
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/door-door-transport-london-delivering-user-led


 
 

 
 

Crossrail 2 
 
Since your draft MTS was published, we have seen the announcement from the Department for 
Transport regarding the Government’s support for the Crossrail 2 scheme. The Government’s 
proposal that the GLA fund half of the scheme’s costs during the construction phase creates a 
significant financial challenge for you and TfL. It is far from clear how and whether you will be 
able to meet this. We would expect your final strategy to reflect this changed situation and set 
out your plans for delivering the scheme. 
 
Autonomous vehicles 
 
We are currently investigating the potential benefits and risks of autonomous vehicles in our 
future transport investigation. It is right that you have set out the ways in which this technology 
could exacerbate traffic congestion in London – this would need to be carefully monitored. In our 
initial meeting with experts and stakeholders on this topic we also heard about some of the 
potential benefits of autonomous vehicles, including using road space more efficiently, making 
roads safer, and increasing accessibility for disabled people. There is an opportunity for 
autonomous vehicles to become a shared resource, much more so than the private car is at 
present, which should be encouraged. We will continue to explore these issues and share our 
findings with you in early 2018. 
 
We hope you will consider incorporating our suggestions for the strategy and look forward to 
further discussions with you. 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
 
Keith Prince AM 
Chairman, Transport Committee  

Page 105



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 106



 

                                                                    
 

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Future Transport  

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 10 October 2017 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This report sets out the background to a discussion with experts and stakeholders on the topic of 

future transport technology. 

 

 

2. Recommendations 

 
2.1 That the Committee notes the report, puts questions to invited guests on Future 

Transport and notes the discussion. 

 

2.2 That the Committee agrees to delegate authority to the Chairman, in consultation with 

the Deputy Chair and party Group Lead Members, to agree the final report of the 

investigation into Future Transport. 

 

 

3. Background  
 

3.1  The Transport Committee has launched an investigation into Future Transport. This investigation will 

focus on new technology emerging in the transport sector. It will consider how the technology may 

affect London’s transport network, and how the Mayor and Transport for London (TfL) are planning 

to manage any risks or take advantage of new opportunities. 

3.2 Technology being considered includes, primarily, autonomous vehicles, delivery drones and droids, 

and services enabled by smartphone apps. 

3.3 The Committee discussed this topic at its September meeting. Further informal meetings and site 

visits are also being planned.  

 

 

 

 

Page 107

Agenda Item 6



        

4. Issues for Consideration  

 
4.1 The meeting will focus on drones and droids, and TfL’s response to new technology. The following 

guests have been invited to the meeting, from 10am: 

 Henry Harris-Burland, Vice-President of Marketing, Starship Technologies;  

 Tony Henley, Chairman of the Royal Aeronautical Society Unmanned Aircraft Systems Group; 
and 

 Professor Alan McKinnon, Professor of Logistics, Kuehne Logistics University. 

From approximately 11am: 

 Michael Hurwitz, Director of Transport Innovation, Transport for London; and. 

 Lauren Sager Weinstein, Chief Data Officer, Transport for London  

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 
 

 

List of appendices to this report: 

None 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: MDA 827 

 

Contact Officer: Richard Berry, Scrutiny Manager  

Telephone: 020 7983 4000 

E-mail: scrutiny@london.gov.uk   

 

Page 108

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


 

                                                                    

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: London TravelWatch Business Plan and 
Budget Bid 2018/19 
 

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 10 October 2017 

 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report presents the London TravelWatch1 draft budget and business plan for 2018/19 attached 

at Annex A. 

 
 
2. Recommendations 

 
2.1 That the Committee considers London TravelWatch‘s proposed budget and business plan 

for the next financial year and recommends a budget for London TravelWatch for 

2018/19. 

 

3. Background   
 
3.1 London TravelWatch’s budget forms part of the London Assembly’s budget, and as such it will be 

included in the Assembly’s budget submission to the Mayor.  The Transport Committee is asked to 

consider and approve the proposed budget for London TravelWatch for 2018/19 which will form 

part of the Assembly’s overall budget submission for consideration by the Assembly’s GLA Oversight 

Committee in November 2017.  Any comments from the Committee will be taken into account 

during the preparation of the budget submission to the Mayor. 

 

  
4. Issues for Consideration  
 

4.1 The London TravelWatch draft Business Plan and Budget Bid 2018/19 is attached at Annex A.  In 

2017/18 London TravelWatch received £1,035,300 from the GLA.  London TravelWatch is proposing 

a budget for 2018/19 that represents a cash freeze, with increased costs mostly for accommodation 

offset by efficiency savings as well as flexibility in staffing and a reduction in member costs. No 

contributions are proposed from London TravelWatch’s reserves in 2018/19. 

                                                 
1 London TravelWatch is the operating name of the London Transport Users Committee. 
 

Page 109

Agenda Item 7



        

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 Under paragraph 6(1) of Schedule 18 to the GLA Act 1999 (as amended), the Assembly must 

provide London TravelWatch with funds to pay officers’ and members’ remuneration and other 

allowances as the Committee, with the approval of the Assembly, so determine.  The Assembly must 

also provide such funding as it determines appropriate to London TravelWatch to defray expenses in 

connection with its functions (para 6(2), Sch 18, GLA Act).  All the Assembly’s functions regarding 

London TravelWatch are delegated to the Transport Committee.   

 

5.2 By 1 February each year (or such other date as the Transport Committee determines) London 

TravelWatch must provide a formal “statement of expected expenses” relating to the expenses they 

expect to incur in connection with carrying out of their functions in the following financial year (para 

6(3), Sch 18).  The Transport Committee must consider that formal statement, and approve it with 

or without modifications (para 6(4), Sch 18).  Once approved (with or without modifications) it then 

becomes London TravelWatch’s budget for the following year. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 London TravelWatch is a separate legal entity which is funded by the London Assembly in 

accordance with Schedule 19 of the GLA Act 1999 (as amended).  London TravelWatch funding, 

therefore, forms part of the London Assembly and Secretariat budget and London TravelWatch’s 

2018/19 proposed budget will need to be contained within the Assembly and Secretariat’s 2018/19 

cash limited budget. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report: 

 

Annex A – London TravelWatch Draft Budget and Business Plan 2018/19 

 
 
 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: none 

 

Contact Officer: Ed Williams, Executive Director of Secretariat 

Telephone: 020 7983 4399 

E-mail: ed.williams@london.gov.uk, 

 

 

Page 110

mailto:ed.williams@london.gov.uk


Page 111

lpelling_1
Typewritten Text
Annex A



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



 

 

Appendix 1 

 

London TravelWatch Mission and Values 

Mission 

London TravelWatch is the body established by Parliament to be the official voice of 
transport users in greater London.  It has a statutory role in the appeals and 
consultations process, and in putting the transport user view on transport issues, to 
improve the experience of travelling in and around the capital. 

Values 

London TravelWatch aims to be: 

 Independent – we are firmly on the side of the consumer and will not bow 
to outside pressure.  

 Authoritative – our work will be evidence-based, rigorous and respected. 

 Open – we will share information, and accept new ideas. 

 Collaborative – we will work with stakeholders.  

 Inclusive – we will represent all transport users in our area. 

Vision  

That London TravelWatch is the champion of the travelling public in London, 
successfully influencing decision-making about travel in our area.  

 

Page 121



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 122



 

 

Appendix 2 

Strategic priorities 

Our work in 2018-19 will continue to be driven by the need to improve outcomes for 
transport users.  On behalf of transport users we will work to ensure that: 

 We support and advocate initiatives which make best use of scarce capacity 
on all London’s transport networks, promoting infrastructure changes that will 
help do this. 

 London has a transport system that is well-integrated and accessible to all, 
with convenient interchanges, easy-to-use ticketing and good customer 
service. 

 All decisions about transport in London take account of transport users’ 
needs and priorities. 

 The travelling public are well-informed by service providers, they get high 
quality and timely information about services available, fares and ticketing 
and any disruption to their journeys.  

 Our work is delivered by an efficient and responsive organisation. 

Underpinning our work will be our belief that passengers should get the best value for 
money possible for the price they pay for their ticket; that services should keep pace with 
demand, running frequently and reliably at all reasonable times of the day and week; and 
that journeys should not just be safe but also feel safe.  All transport users should have 
easy access to an effective complaints service from transport operators and providers, 
backed up by a robust appeals system when they are not satisfied with the response they 
receive. 

Corporate strategy 

The strategic priorities that underpin our work are: 

 Maintaining an efficient system for handling appeals casework and for 
responding to consultations.  

 Developing an independent evidence base of the views and needs of 
current and future transport users in London, especially those facing 
barriers to travel. 

 Maintaining awareness of current transport service and future policy issues 
in our area.  

 Becoming increasingly influential advocates on behalf of the travelling public 
to policy makers, regulators and operators. 

 Building effective partnerships with stakeholders where it is in the interests 
of travellers to do so. 

 Ensuring transport users feel their concerns are represented. 

 Further developing as an efficient and responsive organisation. Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 124



Appendix 3 

How we prioritise our work 

London TravelWatch will keep its work priorities under review by means of a simple 
set of criteria. These criteria are similar to those used by other consumer protection 
and enforcement bodies and will allow London TravelWatch to plan and co-ordinate 
its activity with other consumer bodies and the London Assembly. 

The criteria set out below will be used to assess the strength of the case to 
undertake the work.   These will help to demonstrate the extent to which the issue is 
relevant for London TravelWatch and the extent to which it impacts on transport 
users (either generally or on a particular group which London TravelWatch wishes to 
target, for example due to vulnerability or linked to a specific geographical area). 

If there is a strong case according to these two sets of criteria, then consideration 
can be given to the resource implications and timing of the work. 

Relevance of the issue for London TravelWatch 

We will define the relevance of the issue to London TravelWatch according to the 
following criteria:- 

 Confirm that it is in the scope of London TravelWatch’s remit and the extent to 
which we have discretion over becoming involved. 

 Does London TravelWatch have a distinct contribution to make? 
 Why is it important? 
 Is this a problem now or is it likely to be one in future? 
 What is the cost of inaction? 
 How strong is the evidence? 
 What opportunities will there be for London TravelWatch to influence the 

situation? 

Impact on transport users in the London TravelWatch area 

To identify the impact of the issue on transport users in the London TravelWatch 
area we will look at what the evidence shows about the impact of the problem. 

We will consider whether there is a detriment or benefit to transport users. To do this 
we will define the impact taking into account the following criteria:- 

 Numbers of transport users affected 
 Whether it has implications for more than one mode of transport 
 Distribution of impact on transport users in Greater London and the 

wider London Railway area 
 Impact on transport users in vulnerable situations, especially the elderly and 

those with mobility impairments or those that London TravelWatch has judged 
should be given greater priority 

 Impact on future transport users 

Page 125



 Impact on or links to of other London TravelWatch policies or previous 
research   

 Whether there is a strong, very strong or escalating effect on users. 

The tests above will be applied to establish whether or not London TravelWatch 
should become involved in new activities as well as the extent and timescales of 
involvement. 

We apply these broad principles to our day to day work but also to new projects and 
research that we may undertake form time to time as part of our agreed Business 
Plan. 

June 2013 

Page 126



£k 2018/19

Corporate Plan 18/19 £000

2017/18 Budget 1,035.3

Budget requirement pre growth and savings (below) 1,035.3

.

Unavoidable growth:

Accommodation costs: 29.6 Rent increase not predicted in previous budget but partially offset by reduction in 

demise

Chair, Members' & Staff costs-pay: 6.9 Cost of living,pensions contribution re- New Chair

Members' costs- non-pay 0.0

Other Staff related costs-non-pay 0.1

Supplies & Services 3.2 IT, telephony

Depreciation & Asset Replacement 6.0 Office removal costs depreciation over shorter period

Total unavoidable growth 45.7

Projected Savings:

Accommodation costs 0.0

Chair, Members' & Staff costs-pay 36.7 New staff on lower scale, apprentice post deleted 

Members' costs- non-pay 0.3

Other Staff related costs-non-pay 6.5 No liP costs 

Supplies & Services 2.3 Efficency savings IT support, website.

Depreciation & Asset Replacement 0.0

Total savings 45.7

Application of reserves 0.0

Budget Requirement-after growth and savings 1,035.3

Guideline target 1,035.3

Excess over guideline 0.0

NB Growth and savings in the same headings have been offset above.

London TravelWatch

Budget Submission 2018/19

Page 127

lpelling_2
Typewritten Text
Appendix 4



£k 2017/18 2018/19 Net movement

Corporate Plan 18/19 £000 £000 £000

Budget 1,035.3 1,035.3 0.0

Accommodation costs: 132.1 161.7 29.6

Chair, Members' & Staff costs-pay: 785.7 755.8 -29.9

Members' costs- non-pay 0.6 0.2 0.1

Other Staff related costs-non-pay 13.6 7.3 -6.3

Supplies & Services 91.2 92.2 1.0

Depreciation & Asset Replacement 12.1 18.1 6.0

Use of reserves 0.0 0.0 0.0

Total 1035.3 1035.3 0.0

London TravelWatch

Budget Submission 2018/19

Page 128



£k 2018/19

Corporate Plan 2018/19 £000

2017/18 Budget 1,035.3

Budget requirement pre growth and savings (below) 1,035.3

.

Unavoidable growth:

Accommodation costs: 29.6

Chair, Members' & Staff costs-pay: 6.9

Members' costs- non-pay 0.0

Other Staff related costs-non-pay 0.1

Supplies & Services 3.2

Depreciation & Asset Replacement 6.0

Total unavoidable growth 45.7

Projected Savings:

Accommodation costs 0.0

Chair, Members' & Staff costs-pay 36.7

Members' costs- non-pay 0.3

Other Staff related costs-non-pay 6.5

Supplies & Services 2.3

Depreciation & Asset Replacement 0.0

Total savings 45.7

Application of reserves 0.0

Budget Requirement-after growth and savings 1,035.3

Guideline target 1,035.3

Excess over guideline 0.0

NB Growth and savings in the same headings have been offset above.

London TravelWatch

Budget Submission 2018/19

Page 129



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 130



                                                                   

 

 

                                                                                 

                                                                                                             

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         

 

 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                

 

 

 

 

 

 

Structure of London TravelWatch 
August 2017 

 Chair and 6 Board 

Members 

Chief Executive * 
0.8 Fte 

 Safety & Policy Advisor * 

0.2 Fte 

Casework Manager 

Director Policy & 

Investigation 

Executive Assistant **  

1.2 Fte 

Communications 

Officer 

HR Advisor * 

0.25 Fte 

Policy Officers 

2 Fte 

Finance Officer 

0.6 Fte 

Corporate Support 

Co-ordinator 
Policy Research 

Assistant 

Caseworkers 

2.6 Fte 

Casework Support 

Officer 

Corporate Support Assistant * 

0.5 Fte 

*    Part-time employee 
**  Job share plus 
 
Headcount:   18 
Fte:  14.15 

P
age 131

lpelling_3
Typewritten Text
Appendix 5



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 132



 

                                                                      

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: London TravelWatch Performance 
Report  
 

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 10 October 2017 
 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary 
 
1.1 This report sets out the report of the Chief Executive of London TravelWatch on the organisation’s 

performance for 2016/17. 

 
 
2. Recommendations 
 

2.1 That the Committee notes London TravelWatch’s performance over the past year and 

financial position as at 31 March 2017. 

 

3. Background  
 
3.1 This paper presents the report of the Chief Executive of London TravelWatch setting out the 

organisation’s performance for 2016/17 and the financial position as at 31 March 2017.  It also 

provides a high-level summary of performance against London TravelWatch’s key business plan 

objectives for 2016/17.  

 

3.2 The Committee is asked to note the financial position as at 31 March 2017 and the summary of 

performance against the business plan objectives for 2016/17. 
 

 

4. Issues for Consideration  
 

4.1 The report of the Chief Executive of London TravelWatch setting out the organisation’s performance 

for the 2016/17 and the financial position as at 31 March 2017 is attached as Appendix 1. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 133

Agenda Item 8



 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 Under Schedule 18 of the GLA Act 1999 (as amended), the Assembly has various powers and duties 

in respect of London TravelWatch. These include the powers to: agree London TravelWatch’s 

budget, appoint members of the London TravelWatch Board, approve officer appointments made by 

London TravelWatch, receive London TravelWatch’s accounts and audit and, under s.251 of the GLA 

Act, to issue guidance and directions as to the manner in which London TravelWatch shall exercise 

its functions.  

 

5.2 The Assembly has delegated its functions in respect of London TravelWatch to the Transport 

Committee.  

 

5.3 Under s.34 of the GLA Act 1999 (as amended), the Assembly may do anything which is calculated to 

facilitate, or is conductive or incidental to the exercise of any of the functions of the Assembly. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 

 

 

  

 

 

List of appendices to this report: 
Appendix 1: Performance monitoring report from the Chief Executive of London TravelWatch 
 
 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  

List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer: Ed Williams, Executive Director of Secretariat 

Telephone: 020 7983 4399 

E-mail: ed.williams@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 134

mailto:ed.williams@london.gov.uk


 

 

                          
London TravelWatch Performance Report to 31.3.17 

1 Introduction  

1.1. This report sets out London TravelWatch’s performance over the past year and 
shows the financial position as at 31 March 2017, information on more recent 
developments arising from last year’s work is also included in the narrative where 
appropriate. It confirms how London TravelWatch has met its key business plan 
objectives and the outcomes it has achieved for transport users.  

1.2. The report summarises the volume and type of casework activity London 
TravelWatch handled during the period and includes a short overview of the main 
issues raised by the public. It also provides a high-level summary of performance 
against the GLA’s own targets for corporate health.  

2 Key areas of achievement     

2.1. 2016-17 has been another successful year during which we continued to make a 
real difference for transport users in and around London.  

 Our Casework team dealt with 10,719 enquiries and complaints. We changed 
our approach during the year to use the requirements of the Consumer Rights 
Act 2015 to argue the passenger case even more strongly with rail operators. 

 Our close monitoring of National Rail services continue to highlight the poor 
performance of the whole Govia Thameslink Railway (GTR) franchise, 
including Southern Rail. We made a comprehensive contribution to the 
Government-commissioned review of Southern’s performance.  Chris Gibbs’ 
final report, published in June, reflected many of our concerns. 

 We held a consultation on GTR’s plans to alter ticket office opening hours at 
many of its railway stations, which generated over 9,000 responses. After we 
raised significant concerns, GTR introduced a pilot scheme rather than rolling 
out the plans all in one go. It also committed that passengers would still be able 
to buy the same range of tickets.  

 For more than two years we have been highlighting that many London 
commuters were suffering persistent delays of 15-20 minutes on journeys 
scheduled to take 20-25 minutes, but were not entitled to any compensation. 
Government and the industry have accepted our case and will now introduce 
Delay Repay compensation after 15 minutes. GTR were the first to do this. 

 The Mayor of London commissioned us to carry out a detailed review of 
Transport for London (TfL)’s Tube ticket office closures programme from the 
perspective of passengers. Our December 2016 report identified significant 
issues that TfL needed to address. Our findings were accepted and TfL have 
drawn up a full action plan to remedy the problems passengers face. 

 We have lobbied hard for the Crossrail Elizabeth Line to directly serve Terminal 
5 at Heathrow Airport and played a significant part in helping to achieve this 
major success for passengers during the year. 

Appendix 1 

Page 135



 

 

 Various House of Commons Transport Select Committee inquiries on rail drew 
our evidence in making its recommendations, including the need for more 
transparency on train operator performance.  

 We have continued to emphasise the need to improve public transport access 
to all London’s airports to help ensure best use of existing aviation capacity. In 
2014, we published a report on improving surface access to airports and since 
then we have taken all available opportunities to promote recommendations 
arising from the work, including a submission to the House of Commons Select 
Committee’s inquiry on surface access to airports. We also raised the need for 
Southern rail access to Heathrow in meetings with Ministers during the year  

 We continued to press for measures that will make travel significantly easier for 
a wide spectrum of people. We pushed the railway industry to improve the 
stepping gap between the train and platform, and for boroughs to properly 
implement accessible bus stops, which has now been taken up by every 
borough, except for Bromley. Also, a major supermarket cleared pavement 
clutter outside its stores as a direct result of our action.  

 We held several successful events to help influence policy makers, including 
our “Cycling Cities” event, which we dedicated to the memory of our Board 
member, Ruth Thompson, who died in July 2016.  

3 Progress against the business plan objectives for 2016-17 

3.1. This section highlights progress against London TravelWatch’s key business plan 
objectives for 2016-17 and demonstrates the impact our work has had. 

3.2. During the year, as set out above, we had to take on unexpected but important 
work such as our independent review of TfL’s ticket office closures programme for 
the Mayor; our consultation on GTR’s plans to alter its ticket opening hours; our 
contributions to the Government-commissioned review of Southern’s performance; 
to contribute to the Rail Delivery Group’s proposals to develop a rail passenger 
dispute resolution scheme; and the House of Commons Transport Select 
Committee inquiry on the future of rail.  Although this work was not anticipated in 
our original business plan it fitted with our strategic objectives and we used our 
prioritisation criteria to ensure our ongoing work was not overly deflected by new 
projects. We achieved a range of very good outcomes on behalf of London’s 
transport users. 

Securing fairer rail compensation for passengers 

3.3. When performance problems started on Thameslink and Southern it was clear that 
many rail passengers travelling in and around London, who make relatively short 
journeys of 20-25 minutes, were regularly being inconvenienced by delays of 
around 20 minutes, with no right to any compensation. We have been calling for 
compensation to be available to commuters after 15 minutes since December 
2014 in correspondence with the Department for Transport (DfT), meetings with 
Ministers and MPs, in our publications and through the media. 

3.4. At the beginning of October 2016, the Government announced that rail 
passengers suffering from delays of between 15 and 29 minutes would be able to 
benefit from delay repay compensation of 25% of the cost of their fare. 

Page 136



 

 

Compensation after 15 minutes would now be included in all new rail franchises. 
Delay repay after 15 minutes has been available on Thameslink and Southern, 
which includes the Great Northern Routes, since December 2016. 

Review of London Underground ticket offices 

3.5. The ability to buy tickets, get easy access to information and access support are 
fundamental issues for passengers. Following TfL’s decision to close London 
Underground (LUL) ticket offices as part of their ‘Fit for the Future’ programme, the 
Mayor of London promised in his manifesto to review passengers’ perceptions of 
safety on the Tube network and their ability to purchase the right ticket easily and 
access the information and support they need to get around London. 

3.6. Recognising our track record of providing independent insight and working with 
TfL on previous reviews, consultations and surveys, the Mayor commissioned us 
to undertake a review of the London Underground ticket office changes 
implemented by TfL. We took a detailed look at how well the system was working 
and whether it could be improved for commuters, occasional travellers and visitors 
to London. Our report identified a number of key issues, including measures to 
make staff more accessible to passengers, provide better visibility of staff and 
update the functionality of ticket machines following the closure of ticket offices. 

3.7. The Mayor welcomed our findings and TfL agreed a full action plan to address the 
problems we identified. As a result of our findings TfL are recruiting new station 
staff to help passengers. They are also reviewing 'focal points' at stations where 
staff can be found and are looking at ways of making staff more visible. They are 
trialling portable hearing loops and additional assistance for people less familiar 
with travelling around the capital. A system which will allow passengers to buy 
boundary extension tickets is also being trialled with a view to rolling this out 
networkwide. TfL are also looking to draw on best practice from other sectors 
including airports, banks, hospitals and phone retailers. 

Fares and ticketing 

3.8. Following our successful pressure to extend Oyster to Gatwick Airport, Swanley 
also came into the Oyster area during the year, which was another long term 
aspiration of ours. As a result of our discussions with Heathrow Airport and TfL, 
work has started to identify how Oyster and contactless could be extended to 
Heathrow Express and Heathrow Connect.  We continue to lobby for more 
National Rail stations to be brought into the Oyster area such as Luton, Stansted 
and Epsom. 

Select Committee rail inquiries 

3.9. The House of Commons Transport Select Committee carried out an inquiry 
examining the main aspects of rail journeys from the perspective of the passenger. 
We submitted several recommendations to the inquiry and in its final report, the 
Committee drew on our evidence including: 

 the need for more transparency on operator performance 

 simpler and more transparent fares 

 the potential of Wi-Fi provision to improve the flow of information via 
websites and online apps 

Page 137



 

 

 our suggestion that an ‘excess journey time’ performance measure (as 
operates on London Underground) would more accurately capture the real 
experience of passengers. 

 

3.10. Giving evidence to the Select Committee’s rail safety inquiry provided the 
opportunity to highlight previous research we had done on anti-social behaviour as 
well as the problems posed by excessive stepping gaps between the platform 
edge and the train at so many of London’s stations. 

3.11. The Committee’s report on rail franchising also drew on our evidence. 

Rail issues 

3.12. We continued to provide the London passenger perspective into the DfT’s rail 
franchising processes at key stages.  

3.13. Southern Rail passengers continued to suffer from poor service, particularly after 
they put an emergency timetable in place, which withdrew 341 trains a day from 
an already reduced timetable. We continued to express great concern about the 
continuing poor performance and unreliability that these passengers were facing, 
and called for an independent review of the franchise. We wrote to the Rail 
Minister Paul Maynard about the poor performance of GTR services, including 
Southern. 

3.14. The high levels of performance and satisfaction on London Overground and TfL 
Rail coupled with poor performance on several suburban rail services serving the 
capital have ensured that further rail devolution is never far from the transport 
news. We have been putting the case for devolving suburban rail services to the 
Mayor for some time now so were disappointed at the Secretary of State’s 
decision not to devolve parts of the South Eastern franchise.  Nevertheless, we will 
continue to do what we can to try and ensure that the service provided to 
passengers in the Metro area of the new franchise are at least as good as they 
would have been under TfL, as well as to make the case for further devolution in 
the future. 

3.15. We have been a key contributor to the ORR’s work to require operators to update, 
improve and publicise their complaints handling policies. We also continued to 
participate in the ORR’s Consumer Expert Panel 

3.16. Our work on the multi-agency Travel Demand Management Board encouraged 
operators to minimise the impact of engineering works on passengers so they can 
still travel and are well-informed of their choices. We also encouraged more cross- 
industry learning from how unplanned disruption was managed. 

Surface access to London airports 

3.17. Our 2014 report on improving surface transport access to London’s airports has 
been very effective in helping to deliver improvements for passengers and 
continues to produce results. One of our recommendations, an all-day service 
between Woolwich Arsenal and Stratford International, has been recently 
introduced on the DLR and greatly improves access to London City Airport. 

Page 138



 

 

3.18. The Civil Aviation Authority also picked up several of our recommendations for 
improving the passenger experience in its recent Review of Market Conditions for 
Surface Access at UK airports. These included the point we made about airport 
operators promoting premium rail services to London’s airports over more 
affordable services and the need for impartial consumer information to ensure 
passengers are aware of all the travel options available to them. 

3.19. We supplied the ORR with archive material as evidence to support their case 
about the amount that Heathrow airport could charge Crossrail and others for 
using its tracks into the airport.  The ORR’s decision that the airport could not levy 
excessive charges for track access means that passengers will be able to directly 
access the UK’s busiest airport terminal, Terminal 5. 

Buses 

3.20. Our systematic monitoring of TfL’s key performance indicators meant that we were 
amongst the first to identify that bus speeds had been declining in London, 
particularly in the centre. We joined our voice with others by highlighting the issue 
of slow bus speeds in our performance reports, at Board meetings and in press 
releases, securing a wide range of coverage in the national and local press. We 
are pleased that TfL are introducing longer hours on a number of bus lanes on 
their and borough roads to help improve traffic flows. 

3.21. We also highlighted the large number of bus routes failing to achieve their 
contracted minimum standards and continued to progress our work to produce a 
good practice guide for standards passengers should be able to expect at 
London’s bus stations. 

Accessibility on the transport network 

3.22. Although buses themselves are accessible, bus stops are not always so, with 
kerbs not at the right height, insufficient signage, and clutter on the pavement 
preventing passengers from getting on or off.   We have been highlighting this 
issue for several years, helping push bus accessibility up the agenda. This led to 
the previous Mayor of London introducing a bus stop accessibility target of 95% by 
2016 and committing significant investment to the issue. 

3.23. In 2009, when we started to highlight this issue and press for change, only 41% of 
stops across London were fully accessible. Today the figure is 92.69% and in four 
boroughs: Ealing, Hackney, Kingston and Hammersmith & Fulham 100 per cent of 
bus stops are now accessible. 

3.24. We pushed hard for step-free access to be provided at Bank to the Central Line, 
London’s biggest non step-free interchange, when the station is rebuilt. We have 
kept this issue on the agenda and are still hoping for a positive resolution. 

Tackling unlawful pavement obstructions 

3.25. Every London council has a legal duty placed on them to keep their pavements 
clear of obstructions. However very few do this properly. As a result, many of 
London's streets are dangerous obstacle courses for pedestrians, especially those 
who are visually impaired or who rely on wheelchairs or mobility scooters.  

Page 139

http://publicapps.caa.co.uk/docs/33/CAP%201473%20DEC16.pdf
http://publicapps.caa.co.uk/docs/33/CAP%201473%20DEC16.pdf


 

 

3.26. London TravelWatch has become an authority on the issue of highways 
obstructions. After much lobbying work, we persuaded TfL to establish a zero 
tolerance approach to unlawful obstructions on their pavements and to actively 
enforce against non-compliance. The Mayor has adopted this approach, including 
the commitment in his manifesto after we flagged it up in our ‘Transport users 
priorities’ document and it is now a TfL priority. TfL are now also seeking to 
persuade the London boroughs to take a similar stance. We have been active on 
social media promoting the campaign, calling on London boroughs to follow TfL’s 
lead to clear their pavements of unlawful obstructions.  

3.27. We asked TfL to engage with Sainsbury’s, who we consider to be one of the most 
prolific obstructers in London. We supplied them with examples of obstructions 
caused by the supermarket. As a result of our intervention, TfL has reached an 
agreement in principle with Sainsbury’s that they would no longer obstruct 
London’s streets. We will now encourage TfL to engage with other major retailers. 

Taxis 

3.28. TfL responded positively to our response to its consultation on taxis and private 
hire vehicles, adopting our key proposals. We argued that there should be no 
more surcharges for passengers paying by card in taxis and that all drivers should 
be obliged to accept payment by card. We also pressed successfully for an 
obligation on private hire companies to have a live telephone customer service 
line, not just a website address.  

Communications and public engagement 

3.29. Our website and the use of social media continue to provide an effective and cost 
efficient way to help engage the public in our work and to disseminate best 
practice to the industry. 

3.30. We continued to ‘live tweet’ from our public meetings. Key topics discussed last 
year included proposed National Rail ticket office closures, our review of TfL’s 
ticket office closures, Crossrail 2, rail devolution, bus performance and 
accessibility on the transport network. 

3.31. We held a ‘Twitter hour’ with the public on 30 March 2017 where we took 
questions from them about buses. The session proved popular, stimulating debate 
amongst bus users. TfL’s Director of Bus Service Delivery and Operations was on 
hand to answer more specific questions aimed at TfL. 

3.32. We continued to review key interchanges in London on our interchange matters 
blog. This year we focussed on the interchanges at London’s airports. 

3.33. There were 225,283 unique visits to our website last year, slightly less than the 
previous year when there were 228,489 unique visits. We received a large number 
of hits as a result of the ticket office consultation we carried out for the Mayor of 
London. 

3.34. The most popular webpages continued to be: ‘money saving tips’; the frequently 
asked question, ‘where can I top up my Oyster card?’ and our page on where to 
send complaints. A lot of the topics covered derive from enquiries we receive in 
casework. We use Google Analytics to drill down and see what sort of information 

Page 140



 

 

people are viewing and can tailor this information to help reduce the number of 
unnecessary enquiries we receive. 

3.35. Each year our Annual Review highlights the impact our work has made to improve 
the consumer experience for the travelling public in and around London. This is 
sent out to key industry stakeholders and politicians.  

4 Casework  

4.1. During 2016-2017 our casework team dealt with 10,719 written and telephone 
enquiries and complaints. Most of these could be dealt with quickly or passed on 
to the operator for an initial reply, as we only investigate cases where the 
complainant has not already received an adequate response.  The vast majority of 
cases concerned service performance on both trains and buses, including delays, 
early departure, penalty fares, lack of travel information and complaint handling by 
rail operators.  

4.2. We investigated 2,376 appeals from members of the public travelling in London 
and the surrounding areas.  

4.3. The highest number of appeals we received concerned fares and complaint 
handling. 

4.4. Of those complaints that required further detailed investigation, 73% related to 
National Rail (compared to 76% last year). Over the past year, there has been a 
slight 3% increase in the number of appeal cases we need to take forward in 
respect of TfL’s services. Also, there has been a big rise in the number of initial 
enquires we now receive relating to TfL. However, a large number of journeys in 
and around London are multi-modal. The categories are not necessarily exclusive 
and some appeals need us to negotiate with more than one transport operator.   

4.5. From 1 October 2016, the provisions of the Consumer Rights Act 2015 became 
applicable to the rail industry.  These place new obligations on operators to 
perform services with reasonable care and skill, they make any information relied 
upon by the consumer – whether written or spoken – a binding part of the contract. 
As this Act is for all consumers and not only rail passengers, its provisions are 
generic rather than specific; however, it has had a subtle but positive affect on 
appeal outcomes. For example, where we can demonstrate that an operator has 
not delivered services with reasonable care and skill we can press harder for 
compensation, such as in clear cut cases of consequential loss following errors by 
the train operator.  

4.6. Also on 1 October 2016, a revised edition of the National Rail Conditions of Travel 
(formerly the National Rail Conditions of Carriage) was released.  It is clearer than 
any other previous editions with less emphasis on passenger responsibility.  It also 
contains a Code of Practice for all rail operators to follow when conducting 
interview meetings with passengers who have applied for duplicate tickets or 
season ticket refunds. 

4.7. We continue to negotiate with TfL to encourage them to make it easier for 
transport users to make complaints via the website. Whilst we have had some 
success there is still more progress to be made.   

Page 141



 

 

4.8. We have continued to use feedback from our casework to inform the independent 
expert advice we give to policy-makers as well as informing their research and 
campaigns. 

5 Corporate health  

5.1. As at 31 March 2017, the organisation employed 18 staff, 8 of whom are part-time, 
which equates to 14.75 full-time equivalent posts, a reduction of 0.74 on the 
previous year.  We continued to support the national apprenticeship scheme by 
employing a young adult studying for a Level 3 Diploma in Business 
Administration.   

5.2. Following our assessment visit in February this year we are pleased to have 
retained our Silver Investors in People status. The report was particularly 
complimentary about how our organisational values inform behaviours. We will 
draw up an action plan to address the areas identified for development. 

5.3. Although the level of sickness absence remains high at an average of 11.4 days, 
the return to work of one individual who had been on long term sick leave meant 
the overall position was an improvement on last year. One other member of staff 
was absent for over 2 months with a serious medical condition which contributed 
to the high average figures although the trend in the last quarter was improving.  If 
the two individuals with long term health issues are discounted then the average 
number of days of sickness falls to 7.0, much nearer the GLA target.  

5.4. London TravelWatch has a strict policy on managing sickness absence to ensure 
the number of days lost is kept to a minimum. This includes prompt meetings with 
line managers after any absence and referral to an occupational health specialist 
for cases of intermittent but persistent absence or before return to work from long 
term sickness.  We also remain flexible in supporting individuals managing chronic 
sickness. 

5.5. Individuals had access to a range of learning and development initiatives during 
the year and we continued to provide targeted, strategic, cost-effective 
opportunities for our staff.  Given the pressure on resources we encourage 
individuals to take responsibility for their own learning, develop networks and 
relationships and learn with and from others. 

6 Financial outturn  

6.1. Part 1 of the Annex gives details of expenditure against budget as at the end of 
March 2017. There was an overall underspend against budget of £3.6k for the 
financial year 2016/17. 

6.2. There was an overspend on staff costs of £9.8k despite the fact that we slightly 
reduced our staffing complement. This is because employer overheads on staff 
costs (Pensions and National Insurance) have both risen in recent years and 
because the GLA had agreed higher than budgeted cost of living increases which 
also pushed up our costs as we always follow the GLA’s lead in this. 

Page 142



 

 

6.3. There was an overspend of £19k on accommodation as a result of a significant 
and unexpected increase in rent. Prudent working allowed £14k of this to be offset 
by reduced expenditure on supplies and services.  

6.4. Depreciation was overspent by £5k. Following the rent increase a change was 
made in depreciation policy to account for the fact an office move may happen in a 
far shorter time frame than was previously intended. 

6.5. The income of £4.7k received from Transport Focus represents cost recovery in 
respect of 50% of the cost of employing a one day per week (0.2fte) Safety 
Advisor who carries out work for both organisations. 

6.6. The other income of £18k was predominantly recovery for costs incurred in 
exploring the setup of a new rail passenger redress scheme for rail passengers as 
well as costs incurred during the review of the closure of TfL ticket offices.   

Risk areas   

 

6.7. With a smaller staff complement, the principal risk for the future is that we will not 
have capacity for an unexpected and unavoidable rise in workload, which might be 
required to fulfil our statutory objectives, without extra expenditure and without 
draining our reserves to an unacceptable level.  

 
 
Janet Cooke 

             Chief Executive, 
             London TravelWatch 
 
 
            24 August 2017 
  

 

Page 143



 

 

Annex: Performance information 
 
 
1. Financial performance 

 
The financial position as at the end of March 2017 is summarised below: 

 

 Original 
Budget  

Revised 
Budget  

Actual 
Spend/ 
Income  

Variance 
against 
revised 
budget  

 £ £ £ £ 

          

REVENUE EXPENDITURE      

Chair, Members & Staff Costs  781,200 781,200 790,946 (9,746) 

Accommodation costs 134,900 134,900 153,450 (18,550) 

Supplies & Services 106,500 106,500 92,971 13,529 

Depreciation  12,700 12,700 18,010 (5,310) 

     

Total Revenue Expenditure 1,035,300 1,035,300 1,055,377 (20,077) 

      

      

Total Capital & Revenue 
Expenditure 

1,035,300 1,035,300 1,055,377 (20,077) 

      

      

INCOME     

Greater London Authority 
Funding 

1,036,000 1,036,000 1,036,000 0 

Bank Interest Receivable  0 0 23 23 

Other income - Cost recovery 
for setup of a new Ombudsman 
service & the review of the 
closure of TfL ticket offices.   

0 0 18,313  18,313 

      

Total Income 1,036,000 1,036,000 1,058,986 18,336 

      

      

Revenue surplus transfer to 
general reserve  

0 0 3,609 3,609 

 

 

Note: Commentary relating to London TravelWatch’s financial performance is set out in 

section 6 of the preceding report. Costs recovered from Transport Focus towards the cost 
of employing a part time Safety Adviser to act for all passengers have been offset against 
staff costs. 

Page 144



 

 

2. Corporate health 
 
The following relates to London TravelWatch’s performance against the GLA’s own 
corporate health performance indicators. 
 
 

PI 
no. 

Indicator Performance 
2014/15 

Performance 
2015/16 

Performance 
2016/17 

GLA 
Target 

Variance 

1 The number of 
working days 
/shifts lost to 
sickness 
absence per 
staff member 

 
 

4.7 

 
 

15.1 
 

 
 

11.4 

 
 

6 
 

 
 

-5.4 

2 % of employees 
that are women 

45% 50% 56% 52% +4 

3 % of employees 
from ethnic 
minority 
backgrounds 

 
25% 

 
28% 

 
33% 

 
29% 

 
+4 

4 % of employees 
declaring that 
they meet the 
Equality Act 
definition of 
disability and /or 
have declared 
themselves 
disabled. 

 
 
 
 

10% 

 
 
 
 

6% 

 
 
 
 

17% 

 
 
 
 

13% 

 
 
 
 

+4 

 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 145



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 146



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Transport Committee Work Programme 

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 
 

Date: 10 October 2017 

 
This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report provides details of planned or ongoing scrutiny work by the Transport Committee and 

the schedule of Committee meetings for the 2017/18 Assembly year.  

 
 
2. Recommendations 
 

2.1 That the Committee agrees its work programme for 2017/18 Assembly year, including the 

schedule of prospective topics for forthcoming meetings set out at paragraph 4.20. 

 

2.2 That the Committee agrees to delegate authority to the Chairman, in consultation with 

the Deputy Chair and party Group Lead Members, to agree the scope and terms of 

reference for an investigation into London’s cycling infrastructure. 

 

2.3 That the Committee notes the record of its site visit to Crossrail’s Ilford depot, as set out 

at Appendix 1. 
 

2.4 That the Committee agrees to use its next meeting to discuss motorcycle safety in 

London. 

 

 

3. Background   
 
3.1 The Committee receives a report monitoring the progress of its work programme at each meeting.  

 

 

4. Issues for Consideration  
 

4.1 The following is a list of topics that the Committee is planning to explore in this assembly year: 

 Mayor’s Transport Strategy; 

 Car clubs; 

 Emerging transport technology (Future Transport); 

 Pedicabs; and 

 Motorcycle safety. 

Page 147

Agenda Item 9



        

4.2 In addition to the above, the Committee will also consider whether to undertake scrutiny of the 

following topics, with further decisions to be made later in 2017/18 about specific projects and 

meetings: 

 Demand management on public transport; 

 20mph speed limits; 

 Cycling infrastructure and the Cycle Hire scheme; 

 Crossrail 2; 

 Heathrow Airport surface transport access; and 

 River services. 

4.3 The Committee will also seek to hold a meeting with the Commissioner of Transport for London 

(TfL) toward the end of 2017/18. 

4.4 The exact scope and timings for work on any of these other possible topics will be determined in due 

course and more detailed work programme reports submitted to future meetings. The Committee 

seeks to maintain flexibility in its work programme to take account of any relevant developments 

when scheduling its work and has a rolling work programme so work on any topics may continue 

beyond each Assembly year.  

 

Cycling infrastructure 

4.5 Following initial scoping work by officers, the Chairman is proposing that the Committee carry out an 

investigation into London’s cycling infrastructure. This would assess the recent changes to 

infrastructure and examine the Mayor’s vision for future investment. 

 

4.6 The Committee would use its meetings in January and February 2018 to discuss this topic. It is 

recommended that the Committee agree to delegate authority to the Chairman, in consultation with 

the Deputy Chair and party Group Lead Members, to agree the scope and terms of reference for the 

investigation. 

 

Mayor’s Transport Strategy 

4.7 The Mayor is developing a new Transport Strategy, setting out the overarching transport policies for 

London. A draft for consultation was published in June. The Committee is preparing a response to 

the Strategy, which will be agreed by the Chairman under delegated authority in consultation with 

the Deputy Chair and party Group Lead Members. Details of the response will be provided at the 

next Committee meeting. 

 

4.8 Formal meetings on 12 and 18 July were used to discuss the strategy with the Mayor’s Office, 

Transport for London, experts and stakeholders. A further informal meeting was held with the 

Deputy Mayor for Transport on 24 August 2017, discussing issues such as rail upgrades, cycling 

infrastructure and measures to tackle congestion. 

 

Future transport: emerging transport technology 

4.9 There is a range of new technology being applied in the transport sector, including autonomous 

vehicles (also known as driverless cars), drones, and app-based services. These technologies may 

change the way people use the transport network, potentially transforming the user experience and 

the way traditional transport services are delivered. The Mayor is exploring how new technology can 

be applied through a new Smart London Board.  

 

Page 148



        

4.10 The meeting on 12 September was used to discuss this topic, as is today’s meeting. Informal 

meetings and site visits are also planned. It is recommended that the Committee agree to delegate 

authority to the Chairman, in consultation with the Deputy Chair and party Group Lead Members, to 

agree the final report on the investigation. 

 

Car clubs 

4.11 Car clubs allow for members to book a shared car when they need one. They are seen as an 

alternative to car ownership, and may help reduce the number of private cars on the road overall. 

Transport for London has promoted car club membership, and the Deputy Mayor for Transport said 

this was one of her early priorities in 2016. The Committee discussed this topic with TfL, experts and 

stakeholders in June 2017. Findings from this work have informed the Committee’s Future Transport 

investigation and scrutiny of the draft Mayor’s Transport Strategy. 

 

Pedicabs 

4.12 The Government has proposed new legal powers for Transport for London to regulate pedicabs (also 

known as rickshaws) in London, although specific plans are yet to be confirmed. At present, pedicab 

operators do not require a license to take passengers on London’s roads, unlike taxi and private hire 

services. Concerns have been expressed over a number of years in relation to pedicabs about the 

passenger safety, traffic congestion and over-charging. 

 

4.13 The Committee is likely to use its meeting in December 2017 to discuss this topic. 

 

Motorcycle Safety 

4.14 The Committee published a report on motorcycle safety in early 2016, recommending measures to 

increase the take-up of training and access to bus lanes. TfL’s previous Motorcycle Safety Action 

Plan has now reached the end of its timeframe for implementation and may need to be updated. The 

Committee is looking to follow-up its previous recommendations on this topic. 

 

4.15 It is recommended that the Committee agree to use the meeting on 8 November 2017 to discuss this 

topic. 

 

Outer London junctions 

4.16 Caroline Russell AM is leading a rapporteurship on behalf of the Committee into outer London road 

junctions.  Members have undertaken a number of site visits for this investigation, including in 

Croydon, Walthamstow, Bow, and Gallow’s Corner. A report is being prepared by officers. 

 

Site visits  

4.17 At recent meetings on the draft Mayor’s Transport Strategy the Committee discussed disabled 

people’s access to National Rail stations. In November, Members will visit a National Rail station to 

learn more about the challenges disabled people face and how stations could be upgraded.  

 

4.18 Members have also undertaken site visits to view progress with the construction of the Elizabeth 

line. On 11 August, they visited Liverpool Street station, and on 31 August they visited the Ilford 

depot. A record of the Ilford site visit is attached at Appendix 1.  

 
Responses to recent Transport Committee work  

4.19 The table below provides details of any responses due from the Mayor, TfL and/or others to 

Committee work.  

Page 149



        

 

2017/18 schedule of meetings 

4.20 The schedule of the remaining Transport Committee meetings for 2017/18 is set out below with 

details of the main prospective topics identified to date: 

 Wednesday 8 November 2017 – Motorcycle safety 

 Wednesday 6 December 2017 – Pedicabs 

 Wednesday 10 January 2018 – To be determined 

 Thursday 1 February 2018 – To be determined 

 Thursday 1 March 2018 – TfL Commissioner 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 

 
6.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  

Appendix 1 - Record of visit to Crossrail Ilford depot. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: MDA 829 

 

Contact Officer: Richard Berry, Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 4000 

Email: scrutiny@london.gov.uk 

 

Transport Committee work Details of responses due 

Report on bus safety Response from the Mayor and TfL due by the end of 

October 2017 

Report on bus network design and planning Response from the Mayor and TfL due by the end of 

October 2017 

Page 150

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


  
 

Transport Committee 

1 
 

Crossrail Ilford depot site visit 
 
Date:   31 August 2017 

 
Attendees: Caroline Pidgeon AM 

Unmesh Desai AM 
  Richard Berry, scrutiny team 
  Mark Morris, Liberal Democrat group 
  Andrew McIntosh TfL 

Kate Orage, TfL 
Steve Murphy, MTR 

   
 
 
Background  
 
The committee was invited to visit the Crossrail Ilford depot, which will be the main depot in 
east London for Elizabeth line services.  
 
The Elizabeth line is a new railway for London and the South East, running from Reading and 
Heathrow in the west, through 26 miles of new tunnels under central London to Shenfield 
and Abbey Wood in the east. The Elizabeth line is being delivered by Crossrail Limited. New 
state-of-the-art trains will carry an estimated 200 million passengers a year. The new service 
will reduce journey times, increase the capital’s rail capacity by 10 per cent and bring an 
extra 1.5 million people to within 45 minutes of central London. The service will be run by 
Transport for London. 
 
Construction began in 2009 at Canary Wharf, and is now 85 per cent complete. The project is 
on time and within budget to deliver the Elizabeth line in December 2018. Tunnelling 
finished in 2015 and the project is now focussed on fitting out the stations and tunnels with 
the equipment and systems needed to operate the railway. This includes the installation of 
track, signalling, escalators and architectural finishes in the station ticket halls and platforms.  
 
MTR 
 
The visit was hosted by MTR, the company appointed by TfL as the operator of Elizabeth line 
services. MTR currently operates half of the London Overground and one-third of the South 
West franchise. 
 
Elizabeth line trains 
 
Members travelled to Ilford on a new Elizabeth line train. These have recently been 
introduced for some TfL Rail services from Liverpool Street, ahead of full rollout when the 
Elizabeth line launches. 
 
The trains currently have seven carriages, but will have nine in the future. With seven 
carriages, the current capacity is 1200 passengers.  

Appendix 1 

Page 151



  
 

Transport Committee 

2 
 

 
The carriages are more spacious than previous roiling stock. They have improved handholds 
for shorter passengers, and are designed to allow people to stand comfortably. They are 
easier to clean than previous 
rolling stock. 
 

Elizabeth line trains will have to 
use three different signalling 
systems along the route – one TfL 
system and two Network Rail 
systems. This will be a significant 
challenge for the operator. 
 
A new camera system in the 
driver’s cab allows the driver to 
see the whole of the train. 
 
 
Training and recruitment 
 
At the Ilford deport, Members were briefed about the recruitment and training of Elizabeth 
line drivers. They were also given the opportunity to try the train simulator used in driver 
training. 
 
The simulator displays the real Elizabeth line route and stations, helping drivers familiarise 
themselves with this. Its controls are the same as on the new rolling stock; these differ in 
some ways from controls on older rolling stock. It can be programmed to simulate a wide 
variety of weather conditions and other incidents, such as landslips. 
 
The majority of drivers recruited by MTR are new to the profession. MTR is looking to recruit 
people from local communities as much as possible. 
 
Around ten per cent of new 
recruits are female. This is 
double the industry average, 
although still lower than the 
operator had hoped for. 
Publicity campaigns for recruits 
features female staff 
prominently in order to 
encourage more applications. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 152


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interests
	3 Minutes
	Minutes - Appendix 1
	Minutes - Appendix 2 - RCA London Transport Committee - Future Transport
	Minutes - Appendix 3 - Transcript

	4 Summary List of Actions
	5 Transport Committee Response to the Draft Mayor's Transport Strategy
	Appendix 1 - Response to draft MTS

	6 Future Transport
	7 London TravelWatch Business Plan and Budget Bid 2018/19
	Annex A - LTW - Business Plan and Budget Bid 2018-19
	App 1. LTW  Mission and Values
	App 2. LTW strategic priorities  corporate strategy
	App 3. LTW prioritisation criteria
	App 4 LTW
	1
	2
	3

	App 5. Structure of London TravelWatch - Aug 2017

	8 London TravelWatch Performance Report
	Appendix 1 - London TravelWatch 2016-17 annual performance report

	9 Transport Committee Work Programme
	Appendix 1 - Crossrail Ilford depot notes




